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Group Structure

AUSTRIAN AIRLINES

Osterreichische Luftverkehrs-AG

i

AUA Beteiligungen

Airlines
As at February 2003

1

Gesellschaft mb.H.!
Osterceichisch Austrian Airlines TVW
c s
Lauda Air sterrete ISHC € Lease and Travel Value Wien 100 %
Verkehrsbiiro
Luftfahrt GmbH Ak schaft Finance Company Betriebs GmbH &
engesellsc
fengeselischa Limited* CoKG
100 % 108 % 100 % 100 %
Tyrolean Airw: [ AUA SCA ACS
yrolean Alrways GULET TOUROPA Versicherungs- o 7 ,
L Tiroler F— Touristik GrabH? — Service — Schedule Coordination —— Aircontainer Services
Luftfahrt GmbH Gesellschaft b L Austria GmbH Gesellschaft m.b.H.
100 % 25% 100 % 54 % 76 %
JAirPlus” Aires
TUI -Austria o " e R AVICON
F—  Reiseveranstaltungs- - g raxé o ] estauran Tun —  Aviation Consult
GmbH Vertriebs- Hotelbetriebs- ' Gesellschaft mb H
esellschaft mb.H. gesellschaft mb.H. o
g 2
. 25 % 333% 35% 60 %
Ukraine
International —
Airlines AG®
TRAVIAUSTRIA Osterreichische
175% || Datenservice fiir Lj Star Alliance Luftfahrtschule
Wi Bérse Al L L]
Reise und Touristik fener Barse AG Services GmbH Aviation TRAINING
Gesellschaft mb.H. CENTER Austria GrabH
65% 29% 8.3 % 26 %

E:] Tourism / Sales

D Financial and Insurance Services

Other Services

Travidata (UK) Ltd,, Austrian Holidays Ltd, OPODO Ltd, AeroXchange Ltd. and Link & Learn Aviation Training GmbH.
2 The Austrian Airlines Lease and Finance Company holds shares in Polygon Group Ltd. and Pentagram Holdings Ltd.
3 GTT Holding AG, wkich is owned 25 % by AUA Beteiligungen GmbH, holds 100 % of the shares.
4 The AUA Versicherungs-Service GmbH holds 51 % of the shares of AVS Privatkunden Versicherungsservice GmbH.
5 UIA Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, in which AUA Beteiligungen GmbH holds a 778 % stake, holds 22.5 % of the shares.

The AUA Beteiligungen GmbH holds, furthermore, shares in Austrian Airtransport Osterreichische Flughetrichsgesellschaft mbH, Travidata Inc,




Key Figures

Business performance 2002 2001 2000 incl. 2000* 1999°
(IFRS) Lauda Air '

Flight revenue EURm 20352 1,910 1,9130 15269 1,3293
Operating revenue* EURm 2,3980 21718 2,380.5 1,9679 1,5398
EBIT EURm 414 -889 769 838 189
Operating cash flow EURm 5209 49.] -~ 3267 2652
ROTGA® % 7.7 52 - ~ -
Cash Value Added (CVA)® EURm -109.8 -224.1 - ~ -
Change in CVA EURm 1143 - ~ - -
Shareholders' equity 31 December EURm 557.0 529.1 - 6986 661.8
Net gearing” % 2904 3379 ~ 2306 1344
Investments and downpayments EURm 2487 4409 - 7551 656.0
Personnel (average) 7,358 7954 - 7,725 7534

Capital market figures

Reuters code AUAVVI

P/E ratio 31 December 53 - - 79 137
Earnings per share EUR 1.29 —4.88 - 1.36 137
Diluted earnings per share® EUR 1.26 - - - -
Dividend" EUR 0.00 0.00 - 0.30 051
Market capitalisation 31 December EURm 2229 265.2 - 4182 639.2

Traffic statistics
{scheduled and charter services)
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Passengers carried " (000} 8,834.7 8,850.7 - 84456 3,030.8
of which on scheduled flights (000) 7,269.2 71778 - 6,892.3 6,538.7
Passenger load factor”? (scheduled services) % 705 686 - 68.7 66.7
Available tonne kilometers per employee” (000) 368.1 360.0 - 3723 355.1
Aircraft ]7 89 - 92 87
1 Business performance: Lauda Air considered as fully consolidated for full financial vear for comparison only.
2 Lauda Air considered at equity from January to October inclusive, and fully consolidated from November onwards. Personnel and traffic statistics include Lauda Air

for the entire vear.

IAS values for 1999 have been established for comparison only. Personnel and traffic statistics include Lauda Air.

Operating revenue: total turnover plus changes in inventories, services rendered for own account and carried as fixed assets and other operative revenues.

Return on Total Gross Assets (ROTGA). EBITDAR in relation to Total Gross Assets (=assets st acquisition cost minus non-interest-bearing debt).

Cash Value Added (CVA): (ROTGA minus WACC) x Total Gross Assets (Sassets at acquisition cost minus non-interest-bearing debt).

Net Gearing; Long term debt excl. provisions and tax accruals/deferrals minus cash-like items, in relation to shareholders' equity.

Adjusted by average number of own shares held by the company.

Dividend for 2002: proposal to Annusl General Meeting,

2002: adjusted by 1.7 million repurchased shares.

Passengers carried: number of revenue passengers carried on individual flights. Flights with one flight number are counted as just one flight regardless of the number
of stopovers.

Passenger load factor: available seats in relation to the number of revenue passengers in percent {RPK x 100/ASK).

Available tonne kilometers per employee: weight capacity available on scheduled services in tonnes times distance travelled per airline employee {vearly average).
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Highlights

Clear improvement in results — turnaround successfully initiated

o Production (ASK) expanded by 2.7 %
a Traffic performance (RPK) increased by 6.3 %

O Passenger load factor (scheduled) rises by 1.9 percentage points to 70.5 %
o Turnover in Cargo Division up by 7.4 % to hit new high of EUR 122.6m
0 Sharp increase in EBITDAR: up from EUR 219.6m to EUR 463.2m
g Clear improvement in EBIT: up from EUR —88.9m to EUR 41.4m
O Positive profit before tax: up from EUR —164.1m to EUR 4.2m
0 ROTGA risesto 7.7 %

0 CVA improved by EUR 1143m
0 Net gearing reduced from 337.9 % to 2904 %

Strategic reorientation takes effect

o New Group strategy successfully implemented

o Production Company Concept creates clear distinction of business areas within the Group
o Rheintalflug integrated into Tyrolean Airways

g Offensive market presence produces conspicuous gains in market share in Europe and Asia
0 Measures aimed at reduction in personnel expenditure are successful

T Reduction in investment volume

0 Fleet harmonisation initiated

0 Pro-active marketing of surplus aircraft capacity

2
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Who We Are

With its three airlines of Austrian Airlines,
Lauda Air and Tyrolean Airways, the
Austrian Airlines Group unifies virtually
the entire Austrian aviation market in
a dynamic and quality-oriented corpora-
tion.

Working in line with the demands of
our customers, we cover the segments
scheduled and charter traffic as well as
cargo. In Austria, our domestic market,
we are the market leader. Approximately
66 % of all passengers leaving from our
home airport of Vienna take a flight with
an Austrian Airlines Group company.

Qur strengths lie in our outstanding
product quality, above all the friendly
service and first-class levels of comfort
for which we are renowned. With an
average age of just 6.26 years, the aircraft
of the young, highly modern fleet of
the Austrian Airlines Group meet the
strictest safety requirements and guaran-
tee our passengers the highest levels of
comfort. Our home airport of Vienna -
distinguished by its minimum transfer
time, which at 25 minutes is the shortest
in Europe — enables our customers to
make rapid and comfortable connections.
The quality of our product is highly
appreciated by our customers and
emphatically confirmed by numerous

international awards.

Since March 2000, we have been a
member of the Star Alliance, the world’s

largest and most successful global airline
alliance. Together with our partners in
the Alliance, we offer our customers
connections to over 630 cities in around
125 countries, as well as access to some
500 airport lounges worldwide.

As a listed company with operating
revenues of around EUR 2.4 billion
annually and some 7,300 employees,
we are an important economic factor
within Austria. The major shareholder in
Austrian Airlines is OIAG, the state hol-
ding company of the Republic of Austria,
which holds 39.7 % of the shares. The
remaining shares are held by institutional
and private investors.

We are committed to providing our
shareholders with long-term commercial
success. Value orientation therefore is
the key to our corporate strategy, and we
have adopted the annual improvement
in Cash Value Added (CVA) and Return
on Total Gross Assets (ROTGA) as our
leading benchmarks.

We offer our highly qualified and moti-
vated employees attractive working
conditions. An awareness of personal
responsibility, customer and performance
orientation, individual initiative and
entrepreneurial action in the interest
of the company are the central strengths
that are expected, promoted and appro-
priately rewarded.

Our Vision The Austrian Airlines Group is an independent, competition-oriented Austrian group of airlines, which — through the consistent and
ongoing development of its competence in Central and Eastern Europe and partnerships within the Star Alliance - stands for quality and profitability.

Qur Mission We want to be the airline of choice for business and tourist travellers in Austria as well as Central and Eastern Europe. We will take a lea-
ding position in exploiting the market opportunities offered by this region. We are developing Vienna into the most efficient and competitive hub in
the region. Our core businesses are passenger and cargo traffic, areas in which our name is synonymous with the very highest levels of service quality.

Who We Are 3




A Word from the

Board of Management

Dear Shareholders,

Turnaround. When the time came to
choose the motto under which to publish
this annual report, we did not hesitate.
Over the past twelve months, the
Group has endeavoured — with real and
measurable success — to achieve the
complete change of direction necessary
to pull it out of the critical situation in
which it found itself at the end of 2001.

2002 was a year characterised by a series
of farreaching, longterm changes at
the Austrian Airlines Group. The most
important of these was a comprehensive
strategic reorientation of the company.
This new start was made possible by the
enduring confidence shown in us by our
customers and the inspirational loyalty
of our employees, expressed in many
different ways, including a temporary
salary waiver. In addition to this, we have
been fortunate to be able to rely upon the
faith of our shareholders throughout this
challenging period.

We would like to take this opportunity
to express our gratitude to all involved

4 A Word from the Board of Management

Turnarcund
achieved

Further
increase in
value targeted

for such invaluable support. We shall
continue to do everything possible in
the future to justify the faith that all of
them have placed in us.

We have used the past year to consistent-
ly define and implement the new Group
strategy originally outlined at the end of
2001. The strategy demanded radical
changes and a fundamentally different
approach — in short, the adoption of a
"New Spirit".

The central objective of our new strategy
is to produce a lasting increase in the
value of capital employed in the com-
pany. To achieve this, we have identified
two main areas in which action is requir-
ed. Externally, we consistently exploit
opportunities in our niche markets by
means of an active product and pricing
policy. Internally, we work to achieve
ongoing reductions in our fixed and vari-
able costs, and are striving explicitly to
improve our balance sheet structure.

The new orientation has already shown
clearly positive consequences in the past
year. Due to ongoing product improve-




clearly seen in our figures

"By completely resiructuring the
Group and instigating & New Spir,

/. wehave improvedtous overall
IS . dlespite the current crfsis”

V. Senetisem

for 2002."
T. Kleibl

ments we have increased our market
share — particularly on our European
and Asian operations — and succeeded in
boosting both our passenger volume
(+3.3 %) and load factor (up by 1.9
percentage points to 70.5 % on scheduled
services). As a result, we have increased
our flight revenue by 7.6 % while keeping
our operating expenses stable.

Our positive EBIT — at EUR 41.4m, this
was EUR 1303m up on the previous

underaken in our nides relis

"The turnaround can be

Strong starting

position for the

future

year's figure of EUR -88.9m — also demon- Clear operative

strates the substantial turnaround in the
fortunes of the Austrian Airlines Group.
The cash flow from operating activities
also improved decisively, rising to
EUR 5209m (2001: EUR 49.1m). This
trend has enabled us to reduce our
interest-bearing liabilities as reported in
the balance sheet — often described as the

improvement

Wﬁ@ E:@ﬁ]m &m mﬁk@ min
- - b Puonger
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"We have developed our capaci-
ties in line with demand and con-
sistently standardised the fleet."

W. Bock

company’s Achilles’ heel — by 160 %, or
EUR 433.6m.

Overall, the company has succeeded not
only in achieving stability in 2002, but
also in preparing a strong starting position
for the future. There can be no doubt that
the future will continue to bring major
challenges, since the Austrian Airlines
Group — like the aviation industry world-
wide — remains in a somewhat uncertain
position. Since the end of 2002, the
deteriorating situation in the Middle East
has forced back down levels of demand
that had only recently begun to recover. It
was for this reason that we immediately
introduced production cutbacks and a
range of other costcutting measures.

At the present time, forecasts for 2003 are
naturally burdened by great uncertainty.

A Word from the Board of Management 5



After the farreaching improvements
implemented in the reporting period,
however, the Austrian Airlines Group
should be in a position at least to match
the strong EBIT of 2002. According
to our active information policy, we
will publish more precise forecasts
immediately after a settlement of the
situation in the Middle East.

Expansion of our two market niches, traf-
fic from and to Austria and West-Fast
transfer, which we shall continue to pro-
mote through the introduction of new
destinations and raising of our frequen-
cies, will have an increasingly positive
effect in 2003. We particularly want to
secure our position of market leadership
in Eastern Europe by introducing a mini-
mum of one new destination per year. In
parallel with this strategy, we are already
evaluating appropriate product measures
for the new member states of the Europe-
an Union in advance of expansion to the

East in May 2004.

T

alter Bock

6 A Word from the Board of Management

Cautiously
optimistic outlook

Further
development
difficult to
forecast

Vagn Soerensen

“

Josef Burger

The competitive situation will clearly
continue to be tense due to the aggressive
presence of low cost carriers in the
market. However, we think we can use
the system introduced in February 2003
for the offensive marketing of unsold

capacities to secure a beneficial position.

The turnaround achieved in the past
twelve months is just the beginning
of a long road. Although many factors
in the company’s future development
are difficult to forecast at present, the
aviation industry remains a growth
market. In what has been an exceedingly
difficult year, we have succeeded in
improving our results hugely and
positioning ourselves more strongly in
the market. Based on the policies outlined
here, we believe that, when demand
begins to pick up, the Austrian Airlines
Group will be amongst the clear winners
in the new global economic revival.

e

Thomas Kleibl




Corporate Bodies

Supervisory Board

a

OO0 oo oooao

Johannes Ditz, Chairman, CEO (ret.), OIAG (until 8 May 2002)

Rainer Wieltsch, Chairman, Member of the Board of Management, OIAG (since 8 May 2002)
Herbert Koch, First Deputy Chairman, Executive Partner, Kika Mdbel-HandelsgesmbH and
Managing Director, Leiner

Alfred Otsch, Second Deputy Chairman, Member of the Board of Management, Siemens AG, Nurnberg
Alain D. Bandle, CEO, The Fantastic Corporation

Martiine Dornier-Tiefenthaler, Lawyer

Helmut Elsner, CEO, Bank fiir Arbeit und Wirtschaft AG

Karl Heinz Muhr, Managing Director, Volaris Advisors

Gerhard Randa, CEO, Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG

Walter Rothensteiner, CEQ, Raiffeisen Zentralbank AG

Erhard Schaschl, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Osterreichische Elektrizititswirtschafts AG

Members of the Supervisory Board retired in the report period:

O

Johannes Ditz (until 8 May 2002)

The following employees were appointed by the Austrian Airlines Staff Council in accordance with § 110

of the Austrian Employment Act to serve as the staff representatives on the Supervisory Board:

]
[m]
O
O
0

Thomas Hiringer
Alfred Junghans
Rudolf Novak
Franz Pennauer

Ulrich Sedlaczek

Corporate Bodies 7




In accordance with § 141 of the Austrian Aviation Act, the Austrian Civil Aviation Authority was repres-
ented on the Supervisory Board by:

o Karl Prachner

Board of Management

o Vagn Soerensen — Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Strategy, Communications, Human Resources &
Organisation

o Walter Bock — Chief Operations Officer (COQ) Flight Operations, Engineering, Ground Services

0 Josef Burger - Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) Network, Sales, Marketing, Cargo

0 Thomas Kleibl — Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Corporate Finance, IT, Purchasing

Executive Vice Presidents

0 Hans Leb, Human Resources & Organisation (until 17 April 2002)

O Fritz Otti, Corporate Strategy & Corporate Projects

G Wolfgang Prock-Schauer, Long Term Planning & Alliances

o Rainer Walther, Ground Operations

o Peter Briza, Corporate Accounting & Planning (since 17 April 2002)

0 Peter Malanik, Secretary General, International Relations (since 17 April 2002)
0 Christian Schmid, Sales & Passenger Systems (since 17 April 2002)

Thomas Kleibl

Vagn Soerensen Walter Bock Josef Burger

Business
Monitoring

Tyrolean Production

Corporate Strategy & )
Company

Corporate Projects

Investor Relations

QOrganisation

Secretary General &
International Relations

L Internal Audit

As at 31 December 2002

8 Corporate Bodies

Controlling Operations

Austrian Airlines Production

Company Cockpit Operations

O Accountable Management &
Security Office

O Safety & Quality Management
Flight Operations

Austrian Airlines Production

Company Cabin Operations

Ground Operations

Technical Department

Quality Management

Alliances

Sales & Passenger
Systems

Customer Services &
Advertising

Cargo System

Network Management

n Corporatg e Lauda Production Commﬁrcxa] Cost Control Project Office
Communications Company & Quality Management
Human Resources & Personnel Planning & Long Term Planning & .

— — +— Controlling

Group Treasury, Risk &
Asset Management

| Purchasing & Internal
Services

— [T Services




Vagn Soerensen — CEO
Born 12 December 1959, married, 2 daughters, 1 son

Career path

1984 - 2001 SAS Scandinavian Airlines
Various marketing and management functions, including Vice President, Route
Sector Europe, Vice President, SAS Airlines International, Senior Vice President &
General Manager, SAS Business Systems Division; final position Executive Vice
President & Deputy CEO

Since 1 October 2001 Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Austrian Airlines Group

Walter Bock - COO

Born 8 November 1944, married, 1 son

Career path

1966 — 1969 Vienna air traffic control

Since 1970 Austrian Airlines
After pilot training, various management functions in operational area, including
manager of pilot recruitment, MD-80 head of fleet and flight operations mana-
ger /chief pilot

Since 15 October 2001 Chief Operations Officer (COQ) of Austrian Airlines Group

Josef Burger — CCO
Born 4 April 1952, married, 2 sons

Career path

1978 Austrian Airlines market research

1979 - 1981 Osterreichisches Verkehrsbiiro

1982 Meridian tour operator

1982 — 2001 Tyrolean Airways/Executive manager of marketing department
2001 Tyrolean Airways/Managing Director

Since 15 October 2001 Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) of Austrian Airlines Group

Thomas Kleibl - CFO
Born 24 May 1959, married, 1 daughter, 2 sons

Career path

1979-1983 Kleibl GmbH

1984 - 1986 Milan Bioform GmbH

1987 - 1989 Girozentrale /Account Manager

1989 - 1992 OMV AG / Divisional Controller

1991 - 1992 Controller OMV Canada Ltd.

1992 - 1994 Lauda Air / Manager Controlling

1994 - 2001 Wienerberger Ziegel AG /Business Manager Austria

Since 1 October 2001 Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Austrian Airlines Group

Corporate Bodies 9




Value Orientation as Core Objective —
the New Group Strategy Takes Off

On the basis of its new Group strategy — the
central requirement of which is the absolute
value orientation of all activities — the
Austrian Airlines Group makes active and
consistent use of market opportunities
following the correction of structural deficits.
In so doing the Group concentrates on two
market niches: West-East transfer, in which
the company already enjoys a leading posi-
tion, and the expansion of profitable flights
from and to Austria itself. This is supported
by the Group's ongoing integration into the
Star Alliance, the efficiency of its Vienna hub
and a clear allocation of competences through
the Production Company Concept. After
slightly more than one year, the new strategy
and transformation to a culture of individual
initiative and responsibility are proving
successful, and the Group’s ambitious aims
have already been exceeded in a number of
vital areas.

10 Value Orientation as Core Objective — the New Group Strategy Takes Off

International
aviation industry
in difficult

situation

Far-reaching structural change in
the aviation market

The international aviation industry has
undergone dramatic changes since the
setbacks experienced at the end of 2001.
As a result of commercial difficulties,
numerous airlines have been forced out
of the market. At the same time, cutbacks
in capacity worldwide have put pressure
on the market for used aircraft, making
the sale of surplus capacities even more
difficult. The market was also depressed
by generally weak demand and the in-
creasingly aggressive presence of low cost
carriers.

Demand recovering slowly

In 2002, a year characterised by stagna-
ting business activity and generally
weak demand for aviation services, the
transportation performance of European
airlines, where measured in passenger
kilometers, was tendentially down on its
2001 level The impact was particularly
severe on North Atlantic traffic, which
fell by 7.6 %.




The development of traffic within airline industry to completely reorient

Europe was more satisfactory (—4.5 %), as the company on the strategic, structu-
was that for services to the Far East/ Aus- ral and cultural levels. Milestones in
tralasia (+0.2 %) — two sectors of the "New Spirit" this process of transformation have
world market of particular importance to included the realisation of a new
the Austrian Airlines Group. A return to corporate strategy, which was defined
substantial growth is expected in the further during 2002, the restructuring
medium term in the course of wider of company finances and the establish-
economic recovery, although this is ment of a "New Spirit" for the entire
dependent upen the outcome of the con- Group.

flict in Iraq and the actual economic trend.
The core competence of the Austrian
Airlines Group lies in the optimised com-

Increased competition from low bination of a highfrequency, attractive
cost carriers route network focused on Europe -

especially Central and Eastern Europe —
The past twelve months have witnessed with selected long haul services, primarily
the increasingly aggressive presence of in Asia, Australia and North America.
low cost carriers in markets around the The positioning of the Group also
world. Following the entry of such airlines includes a number of other positive
into the Austrian market, the Austrian Countermeasures  aspects, such as its outstanding product
Airlines Group took a number of coun- on product and and service quality, young fleet, member-
termeasures on the product and price price side ship of the world’s leading airline alliance,
side. One example is the company’s high- the Star Alliance, and its 66 % market
ly successful new policy of marketing share at the highly efficient hub of
unsold seats at special last minute fares. Vienna International Airport.

Thanks to its strong positioning, the

Austrian Airlines Group more Austrian Airlines Group defied weak
strongly positioned after crisis = levels of demand in 2002 to improve its
new strategy successful result substantially: compared to the

‘previous year, the Group EBIT markedly
The Austrian Airlines Group has used increased by EUR 1303m to reach
the general crisis in the international EUR 41.4m.

Low Cost Carriers

Low cost carriers (often also referred to as no frills carriers) offer a limited programme of services. Passengers are unlikely to receive inflight catering, sea-
ting comfort is limited and the amount of free luggage reduced. It is often only possible to book flights over the internet, while rebookings are either impos-
sible or can only be made at substantial additional cost. The accent is firmly upon direct traffic between cities, and connecting flights are not normally
available. Due to the limited programme of services that they offer, low cost carriers are in a position to produce more cheaply than quality airlines.

Demanding Aviation Business

The aviation business is fundamentally different from other industries, and subject to relatively complex external conditions:

O High cydlicity due to the strong correlation between air travel and economic growth — demand fluctuates around twice as strongly as the economic
cycle.

O Intense competition, which is increasingly shifting from individual airlines to the level of alliances, and has increased recently due to the presence of
low cost carriers,

O Tight profit margins and sales prices with a tendency to fall.

In this highly specific market environment, two factors above all form the basis for successful corporate development — aspects to which the Austrian
Airlines Group has paid particular attention in the conception and implementation of its new corporate strategy:

O An attractive product based on dense networks, efficient hubs and unconditional customer-orientation.

O Strict revenue and cost management.

Value Orientation as Core Objective - the New Group Strategy Takes Off 11




Clear objectives — value orienta-
tion as central basis

Having been defined more clearly during
2002, the Group strategy of the Austrian
Airlines Group now consists of a total of
seven fields of action. The unifying core
element of the strategy is consistent value
orientation of all Group activities.

Communication
strategy

Business segments
strategy

Alliance
strategy

Network and
market strategy

Value orientation

Employee
strategy (incl. core,
competences)

Risk and business
dimensioning

Customer
positioning

The core elements of the new strategy
are:

o Absolute value orientation is central to
all considerations. In the medium
term, it is essential for the Group to
achieve an above-average increase in
value compared to its competitors.

0 Individual business segments are clearly
allocated to the airlines of the Group
according to the Production Company
Concept. This guarantees the unam-
biguous division of responsibilities and
most importantly the objective meas-
urement of the result contribution as
well as the achievement of stated aims.
Austrian Airlines bears commercial
responsibility for scheduled services
and cargo, using aircraft with 80 seats
and above to provide these services.

Active niche
strategy

Above-average
increase in

value

Production

Company Concept

Tyrolean Airways — into which the

activities of Rheintalflug have also been
integrated ~ covers regional traffic with
aircraft using up to 80 seats. Lauda Air
is responsible for charter traffic and
the production of selected long haul
scheduled services of Austrian Airlines,

The market strategy of the Austrian
Airlines Group concentrates on two
niche markets in particular. The first
of these involves the development of
as diverse and dense a range of services
from and to Austria and domestic
flights as possible. Frequencies are to
be raised on an ongoing basis and new
destinations introduced in order to
increase the number of profitable
flights from and to Austria. In 2002,
for example, the number of frequen-
cies was increased on routes to the
cities of London, Copenhagen, Oslo,
Amsterdam, Brussels, Milan, Zurich,
Tallinn, Skopje, Timisoara and Minsk.
The second niche of the Austrian
Airlines Group is the already well-esta-
blished West-East transfer. Continuing
the "First Mover" tradition of the
Austrian Airlines Group, the company
pursues a two-pronged strategy: to
preserve its strong position on the one
hand, and to generate increased
traffic volume within Eastern Europe
on the other. Charter business is
also to be strengthened further
through targeted expansion into third
markets. Accordingly, also in the
future there will be some charter
flights operating from Zurich.

Through its integration into the strong
alliance system of the Star Alliance
and co-operation agreements with
other partners, the Austrian Airlines

12 Value Orientation as Core Objective — the New Group Strategy Takes Off

Qur Vision The Austrian Airlines Group is an independent, competition-oriented Austrian group of airlines, which — through the consistent and
ongoing development of its competence in Central and Eastern Europe and partnerships within the Star Alliance - stands for quality and profitability.

Qur Mission We want to be the airline of choice for business and tourist travellers in Austria as well as Central and Eastern Europe. We will take a lea-
ding position in exploiting of the market opportunities offered by this region. We are developing Vienna into the most efficient and competitive hub in
the region. Our core businesses are passenger and cargo traffic, areas in which our name is synonymous with the very highest levels of service quality.




Austrian Airlines Group with the largest network in Central and Eastern Europe

Number of destinations served from home hub {own aircraft)

35 4
30 -
25
20 A
15 4
10 A
5 4

0 HHDDHDDDD

Austrian LOT Lufthansa British CSA
Airlines Airways
Source: Official Airline Guide
Group will reach critical mass,

especially in areas such as Network,
Distribution and Sales, which will
have the effect of minimising costs and
increasing revenues.

A "New Spirit" for the
Austrian Airlines Group

Implementation of the new Production
Company Concept has resulted in mas-
sive organisational changes that also
require fundamental change in corporate
culture. In an effort to provide a solid
foundation for this New Spirit through-
out the Group, the creation of an integra-
tive Austrian Airlines Group culture is
being specifically supported in a series of
workshops, The core purpose of these
workshops is to sustain the above-average
orientation of employees to customer sat-
isfaction and high levels of quality, while
simultaneously strengthening their readi-
ness to change and accept new responsi-
bility, build independent initiative and
underline value-oriented entrepreneurial

behaviour.

Consistent implementation —
ambitious goals already exceeded

The Austrian Airlines Group has set itself
demanding benchmarks by which to
measure the success of its new strategy:

Malev SAS

Swiss

Integrative Austrian
Airlines Group

culture

Clear improvement
of ROTGA and
CVA

KLM  Air France Alitalia

O In the operational area, the Group
intends to achieve an equity ratio of
30 % and a reduction in unit costs of
10 % by 2006. The past year has served
to confirm that the direction taken is
the right one, as the equity ratio has
increased by EUR 27.9m in 2002 and
unit costs have fallen by approximate-
ly 2.9 %. Net gearing ~ a measure of the
level of debt — improved from 337.9 %
to 290.4 %.

o Cash Value Added (CVA) should be
significantly and regularly improved
compared to the previous year by
means of a noticeable increase in the
ROTGA. The ROTGA reached a value
of 7.7 % in 2002, following 5.2 % for the
preceding year. The CVA increased by
an impressive EUR 114.3m.

a0 The Group also aims to ensure that
Austrian Airlines shares outperform
the MSCI Europe Airlines Index by
3% over a period of three years. In the
past financial year, the Austrian Airlines
share price significantly outperformed
the Index (for details, see p. 21).

0 In the service area — apart from main-
taining high levels of product quality,
punctuality, reliability and customer
satisfaction — the Austrian Airlines
Group is working to increase turnover
in its high-yield segments (Business
Class and fullfare Economy Class).

Value Orientation as Core Objective — the New Group Strategy Takes Off 13
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Where measured by revenue, the
share of these segments rose from 40 %
in 2001 to 42 % in the reporting vear.

By achieving 66 % of market share at
Vienna International Airport in 2002,
the Austrian Airlines Group has
already exceeded its stated goals. As a
result, the original target of 65 %
market share by 2006 has been raised
to 70 %.

The Group also aims to become mar-
ket leader on twelve of the 15 most
important regional routes from and to
Austria. While the Austrian Airlines
Group led the market on four of these

14 Value Orientation as Core Objective — the New Group Strategy Takes Off

Revenue increase
in high-yield
segments

66 % market share
at Vienna hub

routes in 2001, this figure rose to seven
in 2002. Despite generally weaker lev-
els of demand, the Group also succeed-
ed in winning significant market share
in its core markets of Europe and Asia
in 2002. Against this background, load
factors also continued to improve: the
passenger load factor for scheduled
traffic rose by 1.9 percentage points to
70.5 %.

Finally, revenue from ticket sales
by Star Alliance partners should be
approximately doubled by 2006, from
their starting point of EUR 230m in
2001. This figure rose by 21.7 % in
2002 alone, reaching EUR 280m,




The Star Alliance

Since March 2000, the Austrian Airlines
Group has been a member of the world’s
largest airline alliance, the Star Alliance.
Together, the 14 Star Alliance partner air-
lines have access to a dense network of
destinations across the world and offer an
attractive range of connecting flights,
rapid links and comprehensive frequent
flyer programmes. The recent entry of
three new members — LOT Polish Air-
lines, Spanair and Asiana Airlines — prom-
ises to strengthen the position of the
Alliance still further during 2003.

For today’s passenger, the route network
of an airline defines a range of vital criteria
- including possible destinations, flight
time, availability of connecting flights and
other questions — which form the basis
for the booking in the vast majority of
cases. For the Austrian Airlines Group,
therefore, integration into the Star Alliance
network represents a strategic competi-
tive factor of crucial importance.

Star Alliance: facts and figures

Members in 2002 14
Daily flights approx. 10,000
Destinations approx. 630

Countries served approx. 125

approx. 300,000

Employees

www.star-alliance.com

Sharp increase in Star Alliance
ticket sales in 2002

In accordance with its strategic objectives,
the Austrian Airlines Group was able to
substantially raise its revenue from ticket
sales through Star Alliance partners in 2002
from EUR 230m to EUR 280m, an increase
of 21.7 %. Assuming that such cooperation

14 partner
airlines
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Star Alliance as the leader
in global air traffic

Share in global turnover

Star Alliance
24.4%

Others Oneworld
38.9% 15.6 %
Sky Team
127 %
KLM/Northwest
8.4%
Source: IATA

is intensified further in coming years, it is
intended to expand such revenue signifi-
cantly to around EUR 470m.

Extensive bilateral cooperation
with Star Alliance partners

In July 2002, the European Commission
gave official approval to the cooperation
agreement between the Austrian Airlines
Group and Lufthansa governing air traffic
between Austria and the Federal Republic
of Germany. As a result, it has now
become possible to harmonise the flight
schedules of the two airline groups
according to the needs of the market.

In October, the Austrian Airlines Group
concluded a cooperation agreement with
LOT Polish Airlines relating to code share
flights between Poland and Austria.

To obtain detailed information about the Miles & More
frequent flyer programme, contact the Miles & More Service

Center in Vienna at any time on:
Phone: +43 (0) 1 68 035 4411
Fax: +43 (0) 1 68 055 4414 or in the

Internet: www.m iles—and—more.at

The Star Alliance 15



Leadership in Product and

Service Quality

Only those airlines that distinguish them-
selves from their competitors through a combi-
nation of high quality and an attractive
route network will benefit from future market
growth in air travel Starting from a strong
position — confirmed by intemational rank-
ings — the Austrian Airlines Group consis-
tently strives for further optimisation in both
areas. The Austrian Airlines Group has a
central objective: to increase its levels of com-
fort and flexibility, from service through to
expansion of its route network. This is proven
by its strongly expanded programme of con-
necting flights and available destinations, an
innovative new fare concept and the
increased use of electronic ticketing to supple-
ment online booking The Group’s stance has
been underlined by its official ratification of
the Airline Passenger Service Commitment.

Ongoing
optimisation

Successful positioning in top
quality segment

The companies of the Austrian Airlines
Group distinguish themselves from their
peer group on the strength of their high-
value product. It is a position that has ena-
bled them to establish themselves in the
eyes of travellers worldwide as service
providers of the very highest quality. In
order to consolidate and further streng-
then this solid position, the Group is con-
stantly striving to improve its service and
introduce new and attractive product ele-
ments.

USP ~ quality One of the central strengths of the Austrian Airlines Group is its above-average standard of quality. The key aspects to differentiation in

this allimportant area are Austrian hospitality, friendliness, reliability and attentive, personal service.

A number of features of the Austrian Airlines Group play a particularly decisive role, and are well regarded by passengers around the world. These include:

O The quality of inflight service on the aircraft of the Austrian Airlines Group has been in the "world premier league" for years. Our companies
regularly occupy top positions in specific service rankings.

O In terms of punctuality — often a "weak point" in the airline industry — the Austrian Airlines Group has been amongst the leading lights in Europe
for a number of years; measured against all the airlines in Europe, the Austrian Airlines Group recently took a commendable fifth place for the
punctuality of outgoing flights.

O Rigorous safety standards and an average age of just 6.26 years make the fleet of the Austrian Airlines Group one of the safest and most reliable
in the world.

16 Leadership in Product and Service Quality




Top value in customer
satisfaction: "Best in Europe"

The leading position of the Austrian
Airlines Group in terms of quality was
impressively underlined once again in the
report period. In autumn 2002 the Inter-
national Air Transport Association (IATA)
subjected nine renowned European carri-
ers to a comprehensive opinion survey.
The survey took in a range of aspects of
service including quality, friendliness and
professionalism of cabin crew and ground
staff, efficiency of check-n, smooth board-
ing and language skills of crew.

The Austrian Airlines Group scored high-
ly in a number of different sections of the
survey: the Austrian Airlines cabin crew
and ground staff of the Group were both
judged the "Best in Europe" in the overall
assessment. '

In February 2003, Austrian Airlines was
awarded the prestigious title "Best Airline
in the German and intra-European Air
Travel Markets" in a reader’s survey pub-
lished by BUSINESS TRAVELLER, Ger-
many’s leading magazine for business
travellers and frequent flyers. In addition
to winning this overall assessment, Aus-
trian Airlines took first place in the indi-
vidual categories of "Ground Staff",
"Inflight Facilities" and "Food & Drink".

Passenger Service Commitment
ratified

Following an initiative by the Association
of European Airlines (AEA), service-ori-

Airline

Passenger Service
Commitment:
Www.aua.com

High scores at
customer surveys

Increase in
connections

offered

ented European airlines have developed a
voluntary commitment to the rights of
the consumer of aviation services. This is
known as the "Airline Passenger Service
Commitment".

Already in the past, the Austrian Airlines
Group had applied practically all the
regulations of this document = which
runs the length of the customer service
chain, from the purchase of tickets
through to levels of postflight customer
care — on a voluntary basis. In the report
period the Group now officially ratified
the declaration of commitment.

Increased flexibility in
West-East transfer

Where levels of demand for West-East trans-
fer were formerly strongest in Western
Europe, there are now strong indications
thet the greatest growth in bookings in
coming vears will be amongst passengers
in the former Eastern Bloc. The Austrian
Airlines Group is incorporating this new
trend into its overall strategy by expanding
its range of available connections between
destinations in Western and Eastern Europe.

Using the Vienna hub, passengers can now
travel flexibly and at all times of day from
West to East and vice versa. Vienna Inter-
national Airport has been specifically
expanded with this hub function between
the West and East of the continent in
mind. The Austrian Airlines Group has
increased its flights to major West Euro-
pean cities to up to five frequencies per
day, while additional connections from

USP — route network An attractive range of destinations and an efficient, high-performance hub are also crucial factors in the success of any

modern airline. In this area, too, the Austrian Airlines Group is extremely well positioned:

O Together with its partners in the Star Alliance, the Austrian Airlines Group offers a wide range of attractive destinations around the world. All
in all, the alliance now serves 630 destinations in 125 different countries.

O Within its own route network, the Austrian Airlines Group concentrates on two specific niche markets: flights from and to Austria, and West-
East transfer traffic. In the latter segment in particular, the Group enjoys a leading position in Europe. The Austrian Airlines Group today offers
the most destinations in Eastern Europe of any Western European airline.

O Vienna Airport = which functions as the central hub of the Group - is another particularly important factor in the success of the Austrian
Airlines Group. It offers the smoothest and fastest transfer time in Europe — just 25 minutes — and makes an essential contribution to the
journey comfort of passengers,

Leadership in Product and Service Quality 17
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East European cities to Vienna have been
introduced in the morning and evening.

Innovative fare concept

The Austrian Airlines Group also placed
increased emphasis upon its pricing poli-
¢y in the report period. A range of inno-
vative fare concepts has been introduced
covering traffic to Germany, Switzerland,
Belgium, the Netherlands and other des-
tinations. The new structure is intended
to increase the Group’s focus on precisely
defined target groups and their specific
travel requirements.

The Group's new Business Fare provides
business clients with a range of advanta-
geous alternative offers, allowing these
travellers to combine more flexible time
planning with substantial cost reductions.

18 Leadership in Product and Service Quality

Special offers for
specific target
groups

e-speci@ls:
www.aua,com

A wide range of highly attractive fares is
now being specifically targeted at private
travellers and city break tourists, trans-
forming the Austrian Airlines Group into
an affordable and speedy alternative to
rail and road.

Electronic tickets offer greater
comfort

The Austrian Airlines Group made an-
other vital contribution to the comfort of
its customers in the report period with
the expansion of its range of electronic
tickets to around 40 routes. The advent of
electronic tickets has rendered physical
printouts of tickets entirely unnecessary,
reducing the time spent collecting tick-
ets. The new system also removes the risk
of losing the ticket.




Austrian Airlines Shares

Austrian Airlines shares were unable 1o
avoid the generally negative environment on
stock exchanges around the world in 2002,
However, they performed substantially better
than the airline sector as a whole, which suf-
fered from damaging cyclical trends and
political uncertainty in the Middle Fast. Due
to the implementation of the turnaround
strategy and the company’s unambiguous
commitment to active value management,
analysts continued to evaluate Austrian
Airlines positively. In future, the annual
growth in Cash Value Added (CVA) and the
ROTGA will continue to serve as bench-
marks for increase in value and reasonable
returns. A high level of transparency towards
all target groups in the financial community
also continues to be a core objective of the
company.

DAX: -44 %
S&P 500: =25 %
Nikkei 225: =18 %

ATX: +0.8%

Stock exchanges around the
world slump

The trend on international capital mar-
kets in 2002 was characterised by marked
price falls on practically all the world’s
stock exchanges. Negative economic data
and the uncertain political situation in
the Middle East exerted particularly
strong downward pressure on prices.
Only in the second half of the year did
prices begin to stabilise to an extent,
albeit at a much reduced price level.

Against this background, the indices of
standard values in 2002 fell sharply
throughout the year. The DAX (-44.0 %),
S&P 500 (=250 %) and Nikkei 225
(180 %) suffered considerable losses
over the 2002 trading year.

Compared to this international down-
ward trend, the Austrian ATX actually
performed relatively well, proving its
defensive qualities by posting a small
increase of 0.8 % for the year.

Austrian Airlines Shares 19




International airline shares suffer
sharp falls in value

Depending on consumer confidence, air-
line shares are structurally cyclical, and
strongly reflect wider economic change.
While travelling activity did recover to a
certain extent compared to the lows seen
at the end of 2001, share prices of airlines
in general fell sharply in 2002 due to the
negative economic and world political

environment.

Outperformance of peer group

Although the Austrian Airlines share
price suffered a decline in the report year
as a result of these difficult conditions,
the fall in velue was substantially lower
than at the majority of other airlines.

In the first quarter, Austrian Airlines shares
rose in value against their price on 31 De-
cember 2001 (EUR 7.80) - reaching a level
of EUR 10.52 in March — but fell continu-
ally from then onwards. On 31 December
2002, the Austrian Airlines share price was
trading at EUR 690 (-11.5 %). Measured
against the MSCI Europe Airlines Index,
which fell by 33.5 % over the same period,
the Austrian Airlines share price clearly
outperformed its competitor airlines.

Awustrian Airlines share price and ATX

Cyclical consumer
values

Research on
Austrian Airlines
was published by:

Bank Austria

Bayerische Landesbank
Deutsche Bank

Erste Bank
HypoVereinsbank
Merrill Lynch

Raiffeisen Centrobank
Schroder Salomon Smith
Barney

Due to the ongoing uncertainty on inter-
national stock markets, the share price
has continued to fall since the beginning
of 2003. On 28 February, Austrian Airlines
shares were trading at EUR 6.40.

Information on Austrian Airlines shares

Stock Exchange Vienna (Introduction, 1988),

listing: Official Trading/Prime Market
Market Maker

(Stock Exchange):  Bank Austria, Erste Bank
Market Maker

Futures and Options

Market (OTOB): Timber Hill (Europe)
Reuters: AUAVVI
Bloomberg: AAIR AV
Datastream: OAUA
Futures and Options

Market (OTOB): AUA
OKBWKN; 062015
ISIN: AT0000620158

Analysts give positive assessment
of turnaround

Austrian Airlines continues to attract
strong interest from stock market ana-
lysts at home and abroad. This resulted in
a range of corporate analyses by notable
international investment and brokerage

companies.

All analysts evaluated the progress of the
Austrian Airlines Group turnaround pro-

Absolute share price and indexed to ATX

EUR
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Austrian Airlines shares compared to the MSCI Europe Airlines Index'

Indexed as of 1 January 2002
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shares
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and KLM. Consideration of Total Shareholder Return (price gains and dividends).

gramme as highly satisfactory. This posi-
tive stance was confirmed when profit
forecasts were raised in 2002 on the
strength of the successful development of
the company. Analysts’ assessments of the
future are all now assuming positive cor-
porate development in the medium term.

Shareholders in Austrian Airlines

Share capital: EUR 247.18m, 34m shares
(1.7m held by Austrian Airlines)

OIAG
39.7%

Air France Austrian institutional
1.5% Austrian  investors (syndicate)
Airlines 10.6%
5.0 %

Buy-back of own shares
successfully completed

The ordinary Annual General Meeting
held in May 2002 approved a resolution
to initiate a Stock Option Programme for

Share buy-back
completed in
July 2002

Creation of
added value for
shareholders

T T T T 1 T T T T T T T T T 1
01,02 02/02 03/02 04/02 05/02 06/02 07/02 08702 09/02 10/02 11702 12/02 01703 02/03 03703

The MSCI Europe Airlines Index was calculated for the first time in January 1995, It includes Lufthansa, British Airways, Ryanair, Alitalia, Air France, SAS

executives of the Austrian Airlines Group.
To make the new Stock Option Programme
possible, a buy-back of five percent of
the company’s own shares (1.7 million)
was approved. This was successfully
completed at the beginning of July.

Increase in CVA and ROTGA
as measures of successful value
management

The core aim of the Austrian Airlines
Group is to produce added value for its
shareholders. For this reason, the need for
"value orientation” has deliberately been
placed at the heart of Group strategy (for
details, see p. 10).

The Group is working to achieve a con-
tinual, longterm increase in corporate
value and an appropriate return on capi-
tal employed. An ongoing improvement
in Cash Value Added (CVA) and the
Return on Total Gross Assets (ROTGA)
have been defined as measurements for
these two key objectives. By constantly
increasing these two values, the Group
also intends that Austrian Airlines
shares outperform the MSCI Europe
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Value management

2002 2001 2000" 1999
ROE? % 08 -26.7 6.0 42
ROCE’ Y% 31 -35 45 2.3
ROTGA? % 7.7 5.2 - -
CVA® EURm -109.8 -224.1 - -
CVA change EURm 1143 - - -

b Lauda Air considered at equity from January to October inclusive, fully consolidated as of November.
2 ROE: profit before tax in relation to average shareholders’ equity.
3 ROCE: NOPAT (=EBIT minus taxes) in relation to Capital Employed (= shareholders’ equity plus interest-bearing debt minus cash-like items).
4 ROTGA: EBITDAR as a ratio of Total Gross Assets (= assets at acquisition costs minus non-interest-bearing debt).

5 Cash Value Added (CVA): (ROTGA minus WACC) x Total Gross Assets (= assets at acquisition costs minus non-interest-bearing debt).

Airlines Index by 3 % over a period of
three years,

CVA was raised by EUR 1143m to
EUR ~109.8m in the financial year 2002,
while the ROTGA reached 7.7 %, com-
pared to 5.2 % the preceding year. Taken
together, these figures mean the Austrian
Airlines Group has successfully achieved
its stated short-term goals.

In 2003, the Group is striving to achieve a
further increase in CVA on the basis of an
improvement in the ROTGA. Against the
background of the crisis in the Middle East,
however, forecasts for the aviation indu-

Capital market figures

CVA improvement:
EUR 114.3m
ROTGA: 7.7 %

stry — which reacts particularly sensitively
to changes in world political circumstances
— are currently difficult and hampered by
great uncertainty. In accordance with its
active information policy, the Austrian
Airlines Group will publish more precise
forecasts immediately after a settlement of
the situation in the Middle Fast.

Dividend payment cancelled
for 2002

The financial strategy of the Austrian
Airlines Group is built upon a permanent,
substantial improvement of its operating

2002 2001 2000 1999
Earnings per share {according to OVFA method) EUR 1.29 -4.88 1.56 1.37
Diluted earnings per share ' EUR 1.26 - - -
Share price 31 December EUR 6.9 7.8 12.3 188
Share price high EUR 10.5 16.5 193 327
Share price low EUR 56 55 100 17.7-
P/E ratio 31 December ? 53 - 79 13.7
P/CF ratio 31 December * 04 - 1.3 22
Market capitalisation 31 December’ EURm 2229 265.2 4182 639.2
Turnover on Vienna Stock Exchange EURm 149.3 2077 1716 2959
Average daily turnover EURm 1.10 1.18 0.70 1.19
Trading volume on Vienna Stock Exchange Shares million 180 205 116 127
ATX weighting 31 December % 1.1 15 20 29
Futures and Options Market Contracts 27841 27,385 13,891 na.
Dividend’ EUR 0.00 0.00 0.30 051

| Adjusted by average number of own shares held by the company
2 P/E ratio: price-earnings ratio: share price in relation to earnings per share
3 P/CF ratio: priceash flow ratio: share price in relation to cash flow per share

4 2002: adjusted by 1.7 million repurchased shares
5 Dividend 2002: proposal to Annual General Meeting
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performance and a clear reduction in
the level of debt. Having successfully
introduced its turnaround strategy, the
Austrian Airlines Group achieved a
positive profit after tax of EUR 432m
in 2002 - earlier than was originally
budgeted. Despite substantial reductions
over the past year, the gearing ratio of the
Group, at 2904 %, still remains too high.
For this reason, the Board of Management
proposes not to pay a dividend for the
financial year 2002. In the medium term,
however, the turnaround will benefit
shareholders through the payment of
appropriate dividends.

Awards confirm commitment to
Investor Relations

At times of farreaching change such as
these, an active and transparent infor-
mation policy towards the financial
community is essential. For this reason,
the Investor Relations strategy of Austrian
Airlines is strongly oriented to complete
openness and transparency. In 2002, man-
agement directly informed institutional
investors, analysts and private sharehold-
ers of developments within the
company and the perspectives of the Aus-
trian Airlines Group at a number of inter-
national roadshows and a range of events
held within Austria.

Once again, the quality of the Group's
Investor Relations work was recognised
during the report period, receiving
numerous awards and judgements.
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The newly developed online financial
report 2002 represents an important
innovation. The report will be available
from the time of publication of the
current report at the following address:
www.aua.com/report2002.

Financial calender 2003

Annual Results 2002 10 April 2003
Annual General Meeting Austrian Airlines AG 30 April 2003
First Quarter Results 6 May 2003
HalfYear Results 7 August 2003
Third Quarter Results 6 November 2003

Preliminary Results 2003 / Forecast 2004

11 December 2003

Wirtschaftsblatt [nvestor Relations Test
June 2002, First place, "Highly commended" grade

Wirtschaftsblatt Investor Relations Test
April 2002, First place, "Highly commended" overall grade

Roland Berger Strategy Consultants, diamond:dogs web
consulting "Importance of the internet"
August 2002, Investor Relations: "Highly commended" grade

Annual Report Awards Trend Business Magazine
September 2002, 3" place Business Reporting Category
Austrian Airlines Group Annual Report 2001

You can find an extensive range of corporate information
in the Investor Relations section of our website at
WwWww.aua.com.

We now also provide an interactive online version
of this financial report. To access this, go to
www.aua.com/report2002.

The Austrian Airlines Investor Relations Team, headed
by Karl Knezourek, is more than happy to provide you
with additional information at any time. Simply call
+43/5/1766-3642 or mail investor.relations@aua.com.
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Corporate Governance

Austrian Corporate Governance
Code introduced

In September 2002, the Austrian Corpo-
rate Governance Code was presented to
the public. The Code was developed
jointly by the Institute of Austrian Audi-
tors, the Austrian Association for Finan-
cial Analysis and Asset Management, the
Vienna Stock Exchange, issuers and
investors.

As a voluntary measure for self-regula-
tion, the new Code represents an effec-
tive regulatory framework for the man-
agement and supervision of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. By provid-
ing unprecedented levels of transparency,
a significant improvement in the quality
of cooperation between Supervisory
Board, Board of Management and share-
holders and a clear orientation to long-
term value creation, the Code aims to
promote confidence amongst the invest-
ing public in the management and super-
vision of Austrian companies listed on
the stock exchange.

Austrian Airlines:
a clear commitment towards
Corporate Governance

Austrian Airlines explicitly acknowledge
the Austrian Corporate Governance
Code, and will apply the Code in the
2003 financial year, with the exception of
the provisions named below.

Rule 49 is not to be applied where the
object and conditions of the contracts
between Austrian Airlines and compa-
nies in which members of the Superviso-

24 Corporate Governance

External
evaluation

Minor
exceptions

ry Board of Austrian Airlines exercise
executive functions cannot be publicised
for reasons of competition between these
companies.

Furthermore, Austrian Airlines cannot at
this time offer a declaration on the imple-
mentation of rules falling under the
authority of shareholders, Where these
are to be incorporated into the charter of
the company, this is exclusively condi-
tional upon the decision of the Annual
General Meeting on the basis of appropri-
ate applications from shareholders.

Transparency in matters of
Corporate Governance

In the course of, and for, the 2003 financial
year, Austrian Airlines will have the
observance of the individual regulations
of the Austrian Corporate Governance
Code evaluated by an external institution
and report publicly on the results.

We also shall provide regularly updated
information on this subject on our
website.




Management Report

Encouraged by a slight increase in demand
for aviation services in a number of regions of
particular relevance to the Austrian Airlines
Group, the company succeeded in strongly
improving both its revenues and results in
2002. The restructuring measures introduced
at the end of 2001 — these included a range
of drastic cost reductions and numerous
measures designed to raise yields in flight
operations — have brought the change in trend
the Group aimed for. At EUR 41.4m, the
result from operating activities (EBIT) — like
cash flows from operating activities — is sub-
stantially up on the figure for the previous
vyear. The balance sheet structure has also
improved as a result of an increase in the
equity ratio and a corresponding reduction

in the level of net gearing

Turn

to continue

Annual Statement of Accounts according to I[FRS

The Annual Statement of Accounts 2002 of the Austrian
Airlines Group was prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In the interest of impro-
ved international comparability, the Group introduced inter-
national standards in its reporting in 2000. Please refer to the
chapter "Segments" on page 37 for details of the different busi-
ness areas (segments).

segueld [edIpeEY

PUTlU.lB

‘pourad
110da1 9Y3 UT JUI] OIUI Y2BQ 3IN1DNIIS
150> puB SNUAIL sy FuiSullq JO [e08
$31 SurASIYDR SpIemo) sdols ]qRIaPISUOD
3003 dnoIny S3ULINY URLIISTY Y1 ‘S31n
-seaul Jo a3eyded sIyy uo paseq sagueyd
[eo1peI JO 28Uel @ PaleSsul JUSWageury
JO pIeog mau ayl ‘1007 JO PUS 243 Je ey
SUOSE3 3531} 103 Sem ] "afe1aae Ansnput
Y1 MO[3q JOID] PBO[ B PUE $150D 01
UOLE[2I UL MO] 003 SP[AIA ‘358q 150D & Y1y
00] :SISSIUNBIM [EIUSWEPUNS JO [BAOWISI
Yy Aq posusnpjut Apaeai8 sem 7007
1834 943 ‘dnoI1n) S3UI[ITY UBLLSNY 31 10]

pajeniul
&Mmgssamns PUNOJBUIN],

Management Report / Trend in 2002 25



Worldwide downturn in
economic cycle continues

The world's key national economies have
been suffering from an economic down-
turn since the summer of 2001. Had it
been assumed in 2001 that a lasting recov-
ery would set in by mid-2002, these hopes
were dashed by the continuing slow-
down around the world. The most impor-
tant national economies in Europe —
above all Germany — were stagnant, there
was widespread uncertainty in the USA,
and the Japanese economy was forced to
battle with recession and deflation. With
an anticipated growth rate of 0.9 %, the
Austrian economy was marginally below
the EU average of +1.0 %.

Economic experts forecast OECD coun-
tries to stagnate at a growth of just 1.5 %
in 2002. Boosted by interest rate cuts at
the US Federal Reserve and the European
Central Bank, 2003 is expected to see the
beginnings of economic revival. This will
be weaker in Japan and Germany and
more marked in North America and
EU member states other than Germany.

Increase in traffic volume

After the shock experienced throughout
the industry at the end of 2001, interna-
tional demand for flight services stagnat-
ed to a great extent in 2002. However,
traffic in Europe (=4.5 %) and the Far
East/Australasia (+0.2 %}, two sectors of
the market of particular importance to
the Austrian Airlines Group, developed
somewhat more favourably,

Against this background, the Austrian
Airlines Group again reported an increase
in its passenger numbers from March
2002 onwards. On the basis of ongoing
product improvements — particularly in
European and Asian traffic — it was also
able to win new market share. Overall,
the number of passengers carried by the
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RPK: +6.3 %

Austria below
EU average

Yield: +4.7 %

Rise in passenger
numbers and
market share

Group in 2002 exceeded the figure for
the previous year by 3.3 %.

Revenue passenger kilometers ("sold"
kilometers) even saw a more substantial
increase of 63 %. Thanks to restrictive
capacity management, the passenger
load factor, an indicator of capacity
utilisation on scheduled traffic, improved
by 1.9 percentage points to 70.5 %.

For details of traffic statistics, see page 44.

Further increase in yields

The yield (adjusted passenger flight
revenues from scheduled services in
relation to scheduled revenue passenger
kilometers) showed an increase in 2002,
posting a rise of 47 % for the report -
period. As a result, the Austrian Airlines
Group was able to markedly improve one
of the most important benchmarks
for the profitability of an airline. A
structurally positive effect resulted from
the reduction in long haul capacity in
favour of short and medium haul routes
with higher yields. Fare adjustments
compatible with market conditions also
contributed to the increase in yields.

Revenue and operating revenue
expanded

Although production measured in
available seat kilometers (ASK) grew
by just 27 %, the flight revenue of
the Austrian Airlines Group rose by a
substantial 76 % in the report period,
reaching EUR 2,055.2m. The foundations
for this positive trend were the solid level
of demand, the gain of new market shares
and the increase in yields.

Other revenues fell, however, essentially
due to a 196 % fall in income from
aircraft leases. The increase seen in other
operating income and changes in inven-




Operating revenue

EURm

Flight revenue i
Other revenue 1492 1855 -36.3 -196

Revenue 2,204.4 2,095.6 1088 52
Other operating income and changes in inventories 1936 76.2 1174 -
Qperating revenue ’ 23980 21718 226.2 104
tories resulted overwhelmingly from Fuel expenses: and the active hedging policy pursued by
exchange rate gains from the valuation -15.3% the Group.

of foreign currency liabilities — the

majority of these were not realised ~ of The fall in personnel costs is the result

EUR 141.7m. of the commendable voluntary salary
waiver of staff and the unavoidable
reduction in personnel due to the re-

Reduction in current expenses structuring measures.

Although total expenses showed an over-
all increase, the Austrian Airlines Group

actually succeeded in reducing its operat- Jet fuel
ing expenses for the report period on the USD/ton
back of a Group-wide cost-reduction
offensive. The EUR 959m increase in
operating expenses shown here essentially 4501 ?35.]%;33)&5'“ USD 369.25
resulted from a provision of EUR 106.5m 400 ~ 1022003
~ reported under "Depreciations" ~ for 350
aircraft awaiting sale, in accordance with 300
IAS 36 {Impairment of Assets). When 0
adjusted to account for this item, expens- ?Zz N
es were EUR 106m or 0.5 % down on 100 USD 16950
their 2001 level, despite the expansion of 50 19112001
production mentioned above. 0

January 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Despite the slight expansion in produc-
tion, expenditure on jet fuel, one of the
key cost components in flight operations,
fell by 15.3 % to EUR 216.8m. This was
due to an easing in the price of jet fuel
Operating expenses
EURm 2002 2001  +/-abs.  +/- %
Expenses for materials and services 1,356.2 14180 —61.8 -44
Personnel expenses 4028 4299 271 -6.3
Depreciation 3432 2247 1185 52.7
Other expenses 2544 1881 66.3 352
Operating expenses 2,356.6 2,260.7 959 42
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Further reduction in unit costs

Following the cost reduction measures
introduced in the report period, unit costs
(adjusted overall operating expenses in
relation to ASK) also fell further, decreas-

ing by 2.9 %. This parameter is a particu- Unit costs: =2.9 %

larly clear indicator of the real contribu-
tion made to the improvement in operat-
ing performance by the strict Group-wide
cost controls now in place.

Substantial improvement in

result from operating activities
(EBIT)

Overall, the Austrian Airlines Group
successfully increased its result from
operating activities (EBIT) by EUR 130.3m
to EUR 41.4m in 2002.

In addition to the sharp operating
improvement, the result of the Austrian
Airlines Group was influenced by a
number of special factors in 2002:
the valuation of foreign currency lia-
bilities as at the reporting date, for
example, produced exchange rate
gains of EUR 104.4m. However, the
majority of these were not realised.
In the spirit of a prudent accounting
policy, provisions of EUR 106.5m were
made for aircraft awaiting sale, in
accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment
of Assets).

The marked improvement in the financi-
al result is based upon the lower level of

Profit and loss account

EBIT rises to
EUR 41.4 mio.

interest rates and a strong reduction in

interest-bearing financial liabilities.

In accordance with these developments,
profit before tax and net profit for the
year both improved sharply.

Strong increase in cash flows
from operating activities

In accordance with the positive trend in
the result, cash flow from operating activ-
ities of the Austrian Airlines Group also
rose sharply in the 2002 financial year.

Every effort was made to optimise work-
ing capital during the report period. An
optimisation of receivables and a sharp
increase in provisions for unearned trans-
portation revenues arising from flight
documents sold and not yet used made a
particularly important contribution to
this strategy.

Due to a substantial repayment of inter-
est-bearing liabilities of EUR 329.2m, cash
flows from financing activities totalled
EUR -424.7m.

Cash on hand and at bank and short-
term investments fell by EUR 61.9m to
EUR 235.1m. However, the liquidity of

Liquidity the Group continues to be secured

secured with a strict stop on investment, and

by using existing reserves and credit

lines.

EURm

Operating revenue

Operating expenses

EBITDAR

EBIT

Financial result

Profit before tax

Profit after tax

Net profit for the year
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Cash flow

EURm 2002 2001 +/- abs. +/- %
Cash flows from operating activities 5209 491 4718 -
Cash flows from investing activities -1381 -2493 912 36.6
Cash flows from financing activities -4247 -2.7 ~4220 -
Change in cash and cash equivalents -61.9 -2029 1410 -

Investment volume reduced

The investment in fixed assets of the
Austrian Airlines Group, which totalled
EUR 2487m in 2002, was reduced
substantially against the preceding
year by EUR 151.7m as part of the
restructuring measures.

Due to the Group’s commitment to a
number of non-changeable long-term
purchase agreements, investment activi-
ty once again focused on the purchasing
of new aircraft during the report period.
As a rule, these acquisitions were
financed with loans. In total, four air-

Fixed asset
investment reduced
by EUR 151.7m

Four new aircraft

Improvement in balance sheet
ratios

The favourable business trend of the past
financial year also led to an improvement
in the balance sheet structure. While the
total assets of the Austrian Airlines
Group fell due to the restrictive invest-
ment policy and reduction in liabilities,
shareholders’ equity grew slightly.

Balance sheet structure

. . Current | |[ | Current

craft were newly incorporated into the assets —| | assets

fleet during the report period. 13.4% 15:9%

In the interest of strict cost control, Non-current Non-current

R . assets assets

the Group succeeded in converting 86.6 % 84.1%

open orders for aircraft into smaller
types through negotiations with manu- 2002 2001

facturers. Deliveries of A320 and A321

aircraft were converted to the smaller Postponement _

: : Shareholders’ Shareholders’

A319 type, and an order for one and conversion o ;:‘ oy

Boeing 777 has been changed to three of open orders 146% 127%

Boeing 737-800 - one of the most

modern and efficient medium haul Liabilities Liabilities

. , . $5.4% 87.3%

aircraft in operation today. In some

cases, it was also possible to extend

delivery deadlines further. 2002 2001

Investment

EURm 2002 2001 +/-abs.  */- %
Fixed assets 248.7 4004 -151.7 -379
Financial assets 146 353 - -
Purchase of consolidated interests - 52 - -
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T

expectations

As a result, the equity ratio increased to Equity ratio rises

146 % (2001: 12.7 %), while net gearing
fell to 290.4 % (2001: 337.9 %).

Despite the generally positive tendency,
these figures are still not acceptable
from a medium- to long-term perspective.

The programme of measures introduced

puuwﬂz

to 14.6 %

marked further improvement from
2003 onwards, however. Priority will
be given to increasing the result through
a combination of drastic cost reductions
and increases in revenue. In paralle],
liabilities should be reduced further
with the more frequent use of operating
leases and the sale of smaller invest-

at the end of 2001 should lead to a ments.

Balance sheet

EUR Mio. 2002 2001 +/- abs. +/— %
Non-current assets 33181 34974 -179.3 -5.1
Current assets 511.3 660.3 —-1490 ~226
Shareholders’ equity 557.0 529.1 279 53
Liabilities 32724 3,6286 -356.2 -0.8
Balance sheet total 38294 4,157.7 -3283 -79
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Financial ratios

% 2002 2001
Equity ratio ' 146 12.7
WACC? 80 80
ROTGA® 7.7 5.2
ROCE" 3.1 3.5
Net gearing’ 2904 3379

1 Equity as a percentage of total assets.
2 Weighted Average Cost of Capital.

3 EBITDAR in relation to Total Gross Assets (= fixed assets at purchasing costs minus non-interest-nearing debt).
4 NOPAT (= EBIT minus taxes} in relation to Capital Employed (= shareholders’ equity plus interest-bearing debt minus cash-fike items).
5 lLongterm debt to banks, long-term loans and long-term leasing liabilities minus cash-like items, in relation to shareholders’ funds.

The challenge of risk
management

History shows that airlines are particu-
larly exposed to the effects of political
events and crises, and there are a num-
ber of areas in which specific hedging
through active risk management is
of vital importance for airlines. The
Austrian Airlines Group currently
implements a policy of Group-wide,
value-oriented risk management under
the responsibility of a central risk man-
ager. Through a range of institution-
alised procedures, this is designed to
constantly record and analyse all rele-
vant risks, thereby ensuring the basis for
the timely planning and implementa-
tion of countermeasures.

O In accordance with the international
trend, the Austrian Airlines Group
was also confronted with a consider-
able increase in insurance expenses in
the report period. The particularly
sharp rise in the price of third-party
liability insurance against terror and
war risks in air traffic ~ where insur-
able at all — forced up total insurance
expenses at the Group to EUR 35.0m
(2001: EUR 13.9m). Since acceptable
third-party liability cover against
damage arising from terrorism and
war was not available at all until the
end of November 2002, the Republic
of Austria assumed responsibility for

Value-oriented risk
management

Strong impact

- of political
uncertainty and
crises

coverage of this risk against a market
premium.

As a globally active company, the
Austrian Airlines Group is exposed to
constant fluctuations in exchange
rates, interest rates and fuel prices. In
the interest of minimising risk, the
company hedges open positions on a
case-by-case basis after careful market
evaluation. Currency and interest
rate risks are balanced strategically
or by means of derivative financial
instruments. The price risks associated
with fuel expenditure for flight
operations — representing around 9.2 %
of total expenses ~— were successfully
hedged with options in 2002.

In the aviation industry, market risks
mainly impact on the load factor
("capacity utilized"), the provision of
capacity and vyield (earnings per
kilometer "sold"). Precise analyses of
the respective booking situation
enable active revenue management
oriented towards ongoing optimisation.

The impact upon airlines of political
uncertainty and crises is particularly
severe, since it is extremely difficult to
adjust production (available kilome-
ters) in the short term. As a result, for-
ward planning is of absolutely crucial
importance in the sector. In view of
the volatile political situation in the
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Middle East, the Austrian Airlines
Group has reduced its frequencies and
destinations in the region, and made
preparations for the short-term
grounding of capacities in case the con-
flict should escalate.

In capacity management — responsible
for matching the "production" of
flight services with current demand -
every effort is made to either usefully
employ or sell surplus capacity. How-
ever, the market for used aircraft has
not yet recovered its former vitality.
A total of four aircraft were sold in
2002, while six had been leased out as
at 31 December 2002. Six aircraft were
taken out of service at various times in
the report period.
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Increase in

flexibility

Capacity management will continue
to form an important focus for the
Austrian Airlines Group in the finan-
cial year 2003. The Group will seek to
strengthen the flexibility of its capaci-
ty adjustment through the increased
use of short-term operating leases. It
aims to be able to change 10 % of
capacity within one year, and 20 % of
capacity within three years, without
cost disadvantage.




A Continuing Positive Outlook

Following the successful launch of its turn-
around programme in the financial year
2002, the Austrian Airlines Group aims to
further improve its results during 2003. This
should be supported — provided that a solu-
tion to the Iraq conflict can be found — by a
recovery in the business environment and a
return to normal levels of growth in demand
for aviation services. As a resuli, the ratios of
ROTGA and CV A change, defined as bench-
marks for the Group’s value management,
should also improve in 2003. The Group's
extensive optimisation programme designed to
reduce costs and increase results will have a
beneficial effect in this area. Continuing to
focus its efforts on flights from and to Austria
and West-East transfer, the Group plans to
substantially expand its range of flights in
2003 whilst simultaneously improving its
load factor.

2 to 2.5 times
GNP growth

Recovery in the business
environment

There is consensus amongst economic
researchers at present that, after the col-
lapse in the business cycle in 2001 and
last year’s stagnation at rates of just 1.5 %,
the OECD economies should see a return
to growth in 2003. However, the realisa-
tion of these forecasts depends almost
entirely upon a successful outcome to the
Iraq conflict.

Gradual return to "normal”
growth in demand

Despite the sluggish economic condi-
tions since the end of 2001, former rates
of growth in demand for air travel are
expected to return in the medium term.
Experience shows that these will run at
between 2 and 2.5 times the rate of over-
all economic growth. The marked uncer-
tainty surrounding the situation in the
Middle East caused a fall in demand in
the first weeks of 2003, but this is expect-
ed to be temporary.
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Forecasts for 2002 strongly
exceeded

The Austrian Airlines Group exceeded
its target to break even in its operating
activities (EBIT) set for 2002 in last
year’s financial report by a substantial
EUR 41.4m. As forecast, the ratios
defined as benchmarks for the ongoing
value orientation of the Austrian
Airlines Group rose significantly: the
ROTGA (Return on Total Gross Assets)
reached 7.7 %, while Cash Value Added

(CVA) improved by EUR 114.3m.

Forecasts overshadowed by
Middle East crisis

Against the background of the crisis in
the Middle East, forecasts for the avia-
tion industry — which reacts particularly
sensitively to changes in world political
circumstances — are currently difficult
arid hampered by great uncertainty. For
2003, however, the Austrian Airlines
Group expects to achieve an EBIT
at least the same as that for 2002. In
accordance with its active information
policy, the Austrian Airlines Group
will publish more detailed forecasts
immediately after a settlement of the
situation in the Middle East.

Expansion of route network in
Europe continues

The Austrian Airlines Group intends to
make full and active use of the recovery
in demand for flight services that is
expected to follow settlement of the
situation in the Middle East in 2003. The
empbhasis for the Group remains firmly
upon expansion in two specific niche
markets: traffic from and to Austria, and
West-East transfer.

According to this strategy, the network
depth should be expanded — as in 2002 -

Additional
frequencies in
Western Europe

Increase in
frequencies and
new destinations in
Eastern Europe

EBIT 2003 at
least to reach

2002 level
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through the introduction of additional
frequencies to existing destinations,
especially in Western Europe. The
Group will ensure favourable load fac-
tors by using smaller aircraft types.
Additional frequencies will be sched-
uled at times that both attract high-
value local traffic and guarantee opti-
mum connection into the Group’s own
network,

Market.leadership in Eastern Europe ~
the Austrian Airlines Group offers more
destinations there than any Western
European carrier — is to be ensured with
the introduction of at least one new des-
tination in the region every year. In addi-
tion to this, increases in frequency for
destinations currently offered both in
the West European feeder markets and
the East European source markets
should ellow the Group to make maxi-
mum possible use of its market poten-
tial. With expansion of the European
Union to the East due to go ahead in
May 2004, the Group is already looking
into a range of product measures specifi-
cally designed for the growth markets of
the new member states.

Concentration of long haul
sector

In the long haul sector, existing routes
continue to be checked on an ongoing
basis for their network contribution and
profitability. The Group is concentrat-
ing on destinations that have high
point-to-point potential (New York),
function as the hub of a Star Alliance
partner (Washington, Tokyo, Bangkok),

Planning assumptions 20032005
Real GDP in OECD countries: 2.2 % —29%
Inflation: 20 % —15%
Euribor:30%-35%

USD Libor: 15%- 60 %

EUR/USD: 098

Jet fuel: USD 240 /ton




show positive route results (Osaka,

Australia) or are profitable niche prod-
ucts (Kathmandu). Existing destinations
in this segment will be strengthened pri-
marily by means of additional flights,
working towards one daily frequency
wherever possible. In this way, the
Group aims to improve its average yield
and with it the profitability of long haul
operations.

New branding strategy from
autumn 2003

In a concentrated effort to emphasise
the differentiation of the carriers of the
Austrian Airlines Group through a pow-
erful and clear market presence, especial-
ly on the international stage, a new brand
architecture has been conceived for the

Rise in

profitability

Powerful new
market presence

entire Group. Under the new branding,
the regional airline Tyrolean Airways will
be brought closer to the scheduled brand
of Austrian Airlines, while Lauda Air
retains its independent positioning in
the holiday flight segment. Since the
business environment in spring 2003
had a negative influence upon the launch
of this new market presence, however,
the rollout was postponed until the
autumn.

Fleet investment restricted

New investment in the fleet of the Aus-
trian Airlines Group, which had already
been reduced sharply at the end of 2001,
continues at a restricted rate. Primarily

due to the terrorist attacks of 11 Sep-
tember 2001, the delivery dates of open

back on track
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aircraft orders were postponed by an
average of ore to two years, in agree-
ment with manufacturers.

The only aircraft to be delivered in 2003
will be two Dash 8-400Q and one Boeing
737-800, while the Group plans to dis-
pose of one Dash 8100. As a result, the
total investment volume of the Austrian
Airlines Group in 2003 will be approxi-
mately EUR 190m. This is to be financed
from cash flew and by means of long-
term loans.

Orders for a total of 18 aircraft, with a
value of EUR 577.7m, remain open for

the period 2003 to 2006.

Currently surplus capacity will be

reduced where possible, or employed Reduction of
again when the markets experience a surplus capacity

recovery.

Three new
aircraft
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Significant events after
31 December 2002

In January 2003, the order of a fourth
Boeing 777 long haul jet was converted to
an order for three medium haul aircraft
of the modern type Boeing 737-800.
Investment volume was reduced as a
result and the fleet adjusted to meet
demand.

As at March 2003, forward bookings indi-
cate that levels of demand will continue
to be relatively low for the present time.
The Austrian Airlines Group will counter
this situation with cutbacks in capacity
and cost reductions.

Please refer to page 81 (Note 47 of
the Notes to the Accounts) for furt-

her details of significant events after
31 December 2002.




Segment Reporting

The business segments of the Austrian
Airlines Group — under IFRS Scheduled,
Charter and Complementary Services —
experienced uneven development in the report
period. The Group gained additional marker
share in the scheduled segment, which led to
tangible increases in passenger numbers and
load factor, as well as revenue and EBIT
Charter traffic also reported positive levels of
growth in 2002, but the complementary serv-
ices segment was negatively affected by
worldwide overcapacity reflected by lower
revenue from aircraft leasing When consid-
ered by geographical segment, the core
Austrian Airlines Group regions of Europe
and Asia both posted strong increases, while
flights to North America and Africa showed
a tendency to fall

Scheduled, charter,
complementary

services

The following is a presentation of
detailed information about the sched-
uled, charter and complementary serv-
ices segments. Profits from the ordinary
disposal of fixed assets — primarily air-
craft — included in the operating rev-
enue of the Austrian Airlines Group
were allocated to the scheduled and
charter service segments according to
the ATK produced. They are recorded
as other operating revenue. Exchange
rate gains from the valuation of foreign
currency liabilities as at the reporting
date, and provisions for aircraft await-
ing sale in accordance with IAS 36
(Impairment of Assets), were allocated
in relation to operating revenue
between the segments and reported as
other operating revenue or operating
expenses respectively. The result of
each segment includes directly attri-
butable costs and pro-rated fixed costs,
the latter divided up in relation to
revenues.

Management Report / Segment Reporting 37




Cperating revenue per segment

Scheduled
service

83.2%

Complementary
services
6.8 %

Charter service
10.0%

Scheduled service

The scheduled service segment covers
all scheduled traffic of the Austrian
Airlines Group, including any services
performed in the course of scheduled
traffic (cargo, airmail, excess baggage,
etc.). The focus of activity in this area
is on Austrian Airlines and Tyrolean

Alrways.

The core competence, and therefore also
the focus of the scheduled services of the
Austrian Airlines Group, is in traffic
from and to Austria and on West-East
transfer.

Increase in load factor and market
share gains in scheduled traffic

Despite a reduction in available seat kilo-
meters on scheduled services of 4.7 %,
the passenger volume of the Austrian
Airlines Group rose slightly in 2002
(+1.3 %) to reach 7,269,235 passengers
carried. Although revenue passenger
kilometers fell by 2.1 %, the passenger
load factor — as a measure of capacity
utilisation — increased by 1.9 percentage
points to reach 70.5 %. As a result,
the profitability of scheduled services
increased.

The background to this trend was the
substantial reduction in offered capacity
on scheduled services instigated- by
the Austrian Airlines Group during
the first half of 2002 in reaction to
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Additional
market share

Passenger traffic:
+1.3%

Load factor
rises to 70.5 %

lower levels of demand. Capacity only
was expanded again on specific routes
from the 3rd quarter onwards in light of
the partial recovery in demand. At the
same time, the Group strived to shift
production from long to short and
medium haul routes.

Thanks to ongoing product improve-
ments, the Austrian Airlines Group
also succeeded in gaining additional
market share on its crucial European
and Asian services. Frequencies were
increased to London, Copenhagen,
Amsterdam, Brussels, Milan, Geneva,
Zurich and a range of other destina-
tions. In Eastern Furope, higher fre-
quencies on the Group’s routes to
Skopje, Timisoara, Tallinn und Minsk
had a positive impact, while in the long
haul segment connections to Sydney,
Beijing, Osaka and Tokyo were also
increased. On the basis of these
changes, the Austrian Airlines Group
now offers its customers improved
connections from and to Vienna and
transfer possibilities between Western

and Eastern Europe.

Cargo and mail on course for growth
Despite the general slowdown in the
economic environment, the Austrian
Airlines Group successfully increased
its transport services in the areas of cargo
and mail on scheduled and charter
services in in the report period by 1.6 % to
achieve a total of 125,167 tons.

With a total volume of 10,814 tons
(+32.3 %) carried, the trend in mail
traffic was particularly encouraging.
Cargo transportation remained broadly
stable compared to the previous year
(0.6 %) and developed substantially
better than both the market as a
whole and the Group’s main European
competitors.

Due primarily to the capacity expansion
on services from and to Asia, revenue in




Short and medium haul routes
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this segment increased more strongly
than transport services overall. As a
result, revenue in the report period rose
by 7.4 % to EUR 122.6m, the highest
level recorded in the Group’s history. At
the same time, through its extremely
effective strategy of cost management,
the Group reduced its total costs per
ton carried by 2.8 %.

EBIT and yields increased
On the basis of solid
additional market share gained by the

demand, the

Group and the successful increase in
vields during the report period, the
operating revenue of the scheduled
service segment increased by 13.1 % to

EUR 1,994.8m.

The share of scheduled traffic in the
operating revenue of the Austrian

Airlines Group overall was 832 %
in 2002 (2001: 812 %). Due to

Long haul routes
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Mauritius
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Scheduled service

2002 2001 +/~%
Traffic statistics
Passengers carried’ 7269235 7,177,738 1.3
Block hours? 241,469 242,295 -0.3
Revenue passenger kilometers (000) 13794260 14085261 =21
Available seat kilometers (000) 195361444 20518218 -4.7
Passenger load factor® % 70.5 68.6 19P

ATK (000) 2679239 2835876 -5.5
RTK (000) 1,858,701 1,809,460 27
Overall load factor? % 69.4 63.8 56P.
Freight tons 108,527 107,444 1.0
Post tons 10,109 7816 293
Total tons 118636 115,260 29
Business performance

Revenue EURm 18338 1,701.5 7.8
Other operating income EURm 161.0 63.0 -
Operating revenue EURm 1,994.8 1,764.5 13.1
Operating expenses EURm 1,962.3 1,850.0 6.1
EBITDAR EURm 3725 181.9 -
Result from operating activities (EBIT) EURm 325 -85.5 -
Assets EURm 3,1856 33759 -56
Liabilities EURm 2,7193 2,9443 -76

I Passengers carried: number of revenue passengers carried on individual flights. Flights with one flight number are counted as one flight only regardless of

number of stopovers.

2 Time from departure of aircraft until its return to unloading position after landing,
3 Utilisation of available seats divided by the number of revenue passengers in percent {passenger km x 100/seat k).

4 Utilisation of available weight capacity in percent (RTK x 100/ATK]}.

the extensive restructuring measures Schedulded

implemented over the year, EBIT in service EBIT:
this segment increased to EUR 325m EUR 32.5m

(2001: EUR ~85.5m).

With a rise of 4.7 %, the Group achieved a
marked increase in its average yield on
scheduled traffic {adjusted passenger
flight revenue from scheduled services in
relation to scheduled RPK) in the report
period. The most important factors in
this positive trend were the Group's
reduction of long haul capacity in favour
of short and medium haul routes with
higher yields and its price adjustments in
conformity with the market.

Charter service
The result of the charter service segment

includes the total charter traffic of the
Austrian Airlines Group. In order to sepa-
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Charter
passengers:
+14 %

rate business segments as clearly as possi-
ble under the Group’s Production Com-
pany Concept, all charter activities are
the responsibility of Lauda Air.

Charter service expanded

Due to the generally stronger demand
for holiday flights, the charter services
of the Austrian Airlines Group expan-
ded markedly in 2002 compared to
the preceding year. As a result, the total
number of passengers carried on charter
flights in 2002 increased by 14.0 % to
1,565,421.

The Group served a total of 191 charter
destinations in 2002. The most impor-
tant areas in summer were Greece
(31 %), Turkey (15 %), Spain (13 %) and
Egypt (8 %). In winter, the Canary
Islands, Maldives, South East Asia and
the Caribbean created the strongest
demand.




Charter service

2002 2001 +/~%
Traffic statistics
Passengers carried 1,565,421 1,372,945 14.0
Block hours? 43186 36,725 176
Available seat kilometers (000) 5207807 3595236 449
ATK (000) 657,141 403,002 63.1
RTK (000) 447226 274,883 62.7
Business performance
Revenue EURm 2214 2086 6.1
Other operating income EURm 195 80 -
Operating revenue EURm 2409 2166 112
Operating expenses EURm 2375 2255 53
EBITDAR EURm 824 284 -
Result from operating activities (EBIT) EURm 34 -89 -
Assets EURmM 3846 4139 7.1
Liabilities EURm 3283 3610 -9.1

I Passengers carried: number of revenue passengers carried on individual flights. Flights with just one flight number are counted as just one flight regardless of

number of stopovers.

2 Time from departure of aircraft until its return to unloading position after landing,

The charter product was essentially mar-
keted via major tour operators such as
GTT, ITS, Ruefa, Reiseladen and Thomas
Cook Austria. As a result of strengthened
sales efforts, a long haul programme to
carry customers departing from Zurich
to Thailand was agreed with the Swiss
operator Kuoni for winter 2002/03. In
addition to this strategy, the Group is
increasingly developing its own sales of
holidays in destinations including Palma
de Mallorca and Malaga.

Strong contribution to Group results

In 2002, revenue and operating revenue
in the charter service segment increased
sharply on the previous year. The share
of charter business in the total operating
revenue of the Austrian Airlines Group
remained constant at 10.0 %. The EBIT
in this segment improved strongly to
EUR 3.4 m (2001: EUR -89m).

Complementary services
In addition to its airlines, the Austrian

Airlines Group consists of numerous
companies providing preflight and

Strengthened sales
efforts

Charter service

ERIT: EUR 3.4m

post-flight services in the field of trans-
port and tourism, as well as financial
and

These enterprises promote the core

insurance service companies.
activities of the Group and perform
air traffic related services for co-opera-
tion partners and for non-Group com-
panies in the aviation and tourism
industry.

The complementary services segment
includes the activities of all these sub-
sidiaries of the Austrian Airlines Group.
The segment also comprises the Travel
Value Shops, third party passenger han-
dling at Vienna Airport, aircraft leasing
and a wide range of other services. (For

details of individual companies, see pp. 84
and 85.)

Collapse in revenue from

aircraft leasing

The lease out of aircraft proved extreme-
ly problematic in the report period, due
primarily to the high level of overcapaci-
ty worldwide. Overall, revenue from
aircraft leasing fell by EUR 30.0m to
EUR 37.3m, from a level of EUR 67.3m
in 2001.
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Complementary services

EURm 2002 2001 +/=%
Business performance

Revenue 149.2 1855 -196
Other operating income 13.1 52 -
Operating revenue 1623 190.7 -149
Operating expenses 156.8 1852 -153
EBITDAR 83 93 -108
Result from operating activities (EBIT) 55 5.5 -
Assets 2592 368.0 -296
Liabilities 2212 3209 -31.1

Despite strong competition and cost

pressure, the Austrian Airlines Group

succeeded both in maintaining its Passenger
leading position in passenger handling handling business
business at Vienna Airport and expand- expanded

ing its range of services in the sector.

Amongst the Group’s largest clients are

Air France, LOT and Aeroflot.

Business development was also positive

in the Travel Value Shops, operated by

the Austrian Airlines Group in coopera-

tion with the world’s fourth-largest Positive develop-
Duty Free retailer, Gebr. Heinemann, ment of Travel
Hamburg. Despite just a minor increase Value Shops

in passengers at Vienna Airport, the

Group succeeded in increasing revenue by

6.3 % in the report period to EUR 30.2m.

Operating revenue of the complementa-

ry services segment fell in the report

period overall by 14.9 % to EUR 162.3m.

As a result, the share of the segment of Complementary
the entire Group’s operating revenue, at services EBIT:
6.8 %, was down on the preceding year EUR 5.5m
(2001: 8.8 %). The EBIT of the segment

remained stable compared to the previ-

ous year’s figure, at EUR 5.5m.

Revenue by geographical
segment
Considered by geographical segment, rev-

enues developed unevenly due to differ-
ing market conditions.
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Growth in Europe and Asia

There were revenue increases in the
report period in the regions of Europe and
Asia, both of major importance to the
Austrian Airlines Group. The close co-
operation with fellow member airlines
established following entry into the Star
Alliance had a particularly beneficial
effect, enabling the Group to win addi-
tional market share, The fall in revenue on
routes to North America derives from the
generally weaker demand in this region
on the one hand, and the effects of the
Group's consistent product adjustments,
in the form of frequency reductions, on
the other.

Increase in charter traffic

Charter revenue rose by 6.1 % in the
report period due to the intensification
of cooperation with tour operators in
Austria and increases in the sale of
individual seats on charter services.
The revenue increase in Western Europe
was the result of strong demand for
incoming services and expanded one-off
charter flights. North America devel-
oped extremely positively due to the
expansion of charter marketing in
Switzerland and the cooperation with a

Swiss operator.




to go forward

Tarn
P Urioly
Revenue by geographical segment
EURm 2002 2001

Scheduled Charter  Scheduled Charter

Austria 50.2 0.1 65.2 04
Switzerland 736 02 280 0.1
Germany 360.0 1.3 347.0 1.6
Scandinavia' 32.7 04 738 12
Other Western Europe” 246.2 378 2332 265
Southern and South-Eastern Europe’ 176.2 73.1 160.5 91.2
Central Europe’ 2128 55 1768 44
Middle East® 86.0 55.4 87.0 44.1
Africa® 04 30 6.0 24
Asia and Oceania 3999 158 3406 178
North America 145.8 288 1834 189
Total revenue 1,833.8 221.4 1,701.5 208.6

1 Including Denmark.

2 Belgium, England, France, Ireland, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Spain.

3 Albania, BosniaHerzegovina, Greece, Israel, Italy, Croatia, Macedonia, Serhia, Slovenia.

4 Azerbaijan, Armenia, Belarus, Bulgaria, Georgia, Moldavia, Poland, Romania, Russia, Czech Republic, Ukraine, Hungary.
3 Including Cyprus, Libya, Turkey, excluding Israel.

6 Excluding Libya.
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Traftic Statistics'

2002 +/= 2001 +/= 2000 +/- 1999 +/= 1998
Scheduled traffic
Passengers carried 7,269,235 1.3% 7,177,758 41% 6,892,312 54% 6,538,727 6.0% 6,169,089
Block hours 241,469 -0.3% 242,295 —0.8% 244,145 1.9% 239,662 5.6% 226,939
Revenue passenger
kilometers (000) 13,794,260 -2.1% 14,085,261 -1.8% 14345243 6.5% 13,469,685 135% 11,867,201
Available seat kilometers (000} 19561444 —47% 20518218 -18% 20889864 34% 20206642  154% 17515019
Passenger load factor % 705 +1.9P 686 —01P 63.7 +2.0P, 667 -L1P 678
ATK (000) 2,679,239 -5.5% 2835876 -0.5% 2,849,167 7.7% 2,645,641 145% 2,309,828
RTK {000) 1,858,701 2.7% 1,309,460 —42% 1,889,360 10.2% 1,714,563 220% 1,405,591
Overall load factor % 694 +5.6P 63.8 -25P 66.3 +1.5P. 64.8 39P. 60,9
Freight tons 108,527 1.0% 107 444 ~7.0% 115,498 10.0% 105,020 236% 84,934
Post tons 10,109 29.3% 7316 9.2% 7,160 8.5% 6,600 15.7% 5,705
Total tons 118,636 2.9% 115,260 -6.0% 122,657 9.9% 111,620 23.1% 90,639
Charter traffic
Passengers carried 1,565,421 140% 1372945 -116% 1553262 41% 1,492,122 01% 1,490,629
Block hours 43,186 17.6% 36,725 -31% 39965 40% 38413 -0.7% 38,688
Available seat kilometers  (000) 5,207,807 44.9% 3595236 -160% 4,279,749 3.9% 4118621 05% 4098313
ATK (000) 657,141 63.1% 403,002 -237% 528,254 7.1% 493424 0.7% 490,075
RTK (000) 447,226 62.7% 274,883 -188% 338,645 5.2% 322,010 4.9% 307,035
Total
Passengers carried 8,834,656 3.3% 8,550,703 1.2% 8445574 5.2% 8,030,849 48% 7659718
Block hours 284,655 2.0% 279,020 -1.8% 284110 2.2% 278,074 4.7% 265,627
Available seat kilometers ~ (000) 24,769,251 2.7% 24113454 -42% 25169613 35% 24325264 125% 21613332
ATK (000) 3,336,380 3.0% 3,238,878 -41% 3,377,421 7.6% 3,139,065 121% 2,799,903
RTK (000) 2,305,927 106% 2,084,343 ~6.4% 2,228,005 9.4% 2,036,571 189% 1,712,626
Sector flights 150,054 1.5% 147,340 -0.3% 148280 31% 143,809 1.0% 142,425

1 1998 ~ 2000 Austrian Airlines, Lauda Air and Tyrolean Airways from 2001 onwards Rheintalflug in addition.
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Human Resources

As part of a wider strategic reorientation, the
employees of the Austrian Airlines Group
achieved impressive progress in 2002, not
least through the support lent to Group
restructuring by means of the solidarity con-
tribution. As the most important source of
knowhow and quality at the Group, more-
over, employees form the foundation of future
success. The new Group culture is represented
by a "New Spirit" — one characterised by
responsibility, individual initiative and a
value-oriented entrepreneurial approach on
the part of every employee. The Austrian
Airlines Group also promotes the establish-
ment of these values through its introduction
of attractive working conditions, the very lat-
est incentive systems and targeted schemes for
education and further training

-12.5 % since
31 August 2001

Far-reaching strategic reorientation

Strategic reorientation throughout the
Austrian Airlines Group made measures
unavoidable in the Human Resources
division. For this reason, 2002 was a year
of costcutting throughout the Group,
reductions in personnel and salary
waivers. The Board of Management
would like to take this opportunity to
express its gratitude to all employees of
the Group for their unwavering support
and commitment during the implemen-
tation of these necessary measures.

Reduction in the number of
Group employees

Compared with 31 August 2001, the
number of Group employees had been
reduced by 1,003 posts or 12.5 % by end
2002. This reduction in personnel, which
was in accordance with budget, was over-
whelmingly achieved by means of "soft"
measures including a range of parttime
working models for older employees,
early retirement packages and joint termi-
nation of employment. In some cases, it
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was possible to lessen the impact of
reductions through the granting of lump-
sum settlements within a social plan
framework. A personnel clearing office
was also established in order to support
the internal arbitration and management
of personnel capacities.

All the staffing measures necessary were
precisely planned and rapidly implemented.
This allowed the Group to retain key per-
sonnel and to keep a period of considerable
insecurity amongst staff, understandable
under the circumstances, as brief as possible.

Overall, the Austrian Airlines Group
employed an average of 7358 people in
2002, that is 596 fewer than the preceding
year. The number of employees as at year-
end stood at 7,271, clearly down on the fig-
ure for the previous year of 7,624 (—4.6 %). -

Further information Modern systems of remuneration

about employment
with the Austrian
Airlines Group:

www.aua.com

7.271
employees as at

31 December 2002

Employees'
2002 2001 +/=%
Austrian Airlines 4941 5,164 —43
Lauda Air 1,272 1,594 -202
Tyrolean Airways’ 1,066 1,119 —4.7
Other Group employees 79 77 26
Austrian Airlines
Group 7,358 7,954 ~7.5

1 Annual average on 2 full time basis.
2 Includes Rheintalflug.

Solidarity contribution from both
management and employees

By way of a solidarity contribution in
connection with the restructuring of the
Austrian Airlines Group, management at
the Group voluntarily waived 15 % of
their remunerations in 2002,

A one-year package was also agreed with
employees consisting of shortened weekly
working time, suspension of a previously
agreed salary increase and a salary waiver.
In 2002, these measures produced a total
additional reduction in salary costs of
around 8 % or approximately EUR 20m.
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Voluntary salary

waiver

allow employees to participate in
corporate success

In an effort to ensure that employees ben-
efit from the positive results of their ded-
ication, the Austrian Airlines Group
offers an attractive incentive system.
High achievement and above-average lev-
els of commitment on the part of employ-
ees are rewarded through various incen-
tive models. The salaries of managerial
staff also include a range of variable com-
ponents, payment of which is dependent
upon the achievement of company-wide
and individual goals. Furthermore, a new
Stock Option Programme has been intro-
duced for executive employees of the
Group. (For details refer to page 80.)

Further cost optimisation based
on collective agreements

With effect from 1 January 2004, the
agreement guaranteeing the Austrian
Airlines Production Company a minimum
43 % share of the total production of the
Austrian Airlines Group, irrespective of
market trends, was terminated according
to contract. This measure is designed to
ensure that each Production Company
can grow according to its market oppor-
tunities.

In parallel with this move, negotiations
are currently being held in an effort to
introduce a second, lower compensation
scheme for pilots joining Austrian
Airlines in the future, The new scheme is
designed to maintain the competitive
edge of Austrian Airlines into the future.

A "New Spirit" for the
Austrian Airlines Group

The implementation of the Production
Company Concept resulted in momen-
tous organisational changes within the




Austrian Airlines Group. Over the year,
the Group has sought to introduce a
transformed corporate culture —a "New
Spirit" — as the embodiment of these
changes. Based on this concept, the devel-
opment of an integrative Austrian
Airlines Group culture is promoted in a
targeted manner. The aim of such measures
is to maintain the dedicated orientation
to customer satisfaction and high quality
levels within the Group whilst simulta-
neously strengthening the readiness of
employees to accept change and new
responsibilities, building individual ini-
tiative and underpinning value-oriented

entrepreneurial activity.

The New Spirit at the Group can only
succeed with motivated and satisfied
employees. It is therefore a strategic objec-
tive of the Austrian Airlines Group to
employ appropriate management meas-
ures in order to measurably improve the
confidence, motivation and satisfaction
of employees compared to the results of
the 2002 Employee Survey. In an initial
step, two workshops were held during
the report period in an effort to breathe
life into the New Spirit. Each workshop
was attended by around 100 managers,
who subsequently carried the New Spirit
to their respective Group divisions.

High value placed on employee
motivation

As aquality-oriented service provider, the
Austrian Airlines Group values its
employees highly. For this reason, the
Group has begun to implement a range of
measures designed to increase levels of
employee satisfaction.

In autumn 2002, the Group carried out a
survey of its employees. The survey cov-
ered a range of topics including the devel-
opment of the company, management,
image, working environment, opportuni-
ties for personal development and more.

/

e

“or satisfaction

Turn

PUI 10LE

First and foremost, the survey highlight-
ed the need for improvement in areas
such as cooperation between the produc-
tion companies, staff appraisals and staff
appointments. Based on the findings of
the survey, the coming months will see
the introduction of employee appraisals
throughout the Group and the produc-
"New Spirit" tion of new guidelines for a clear and
workshops objective personnel selection procedure,
in addition to the consistent intensifica-
tion of the New Spirit. In parallel with
these changes, the Group will produce a
structured record of the experience,
knowhow and potential of employees in
an effort to ensure that all are given access
to suitable development opportunities.

Broad range The Austrian Airlines Group offers its
of training employees a broad, target-oriented range
opportunities of internal and external training opportu-
nities. There was particular emphasis in
2002 on the optimisation of core links in
the customer service chain, including
check-in and reservation. In total, around
EUR 10m was spent in 2002 on education
and training for around 4,800 partici-
pants at a range of different seminars and
training events.
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Strategic Fleet Management

Following the redefinition of its fleet strategy,
the Austrian Airlines Group concentrated on
developing its capacity according to levels of
demand in 2002, whilst simultaneously set-
ting a new course towards the standardiza-
tion of its fleet Four new aircraft were incor-
porated into the fleet in the report period,
while ten were sold or leased out on a longer-
term basis. Under pressure from the continu-
ing slowdown in the aviation industry, future
deliveries were postponed in agreement with
manufacturers. The new Production
Company Concept began to prove its worth
in the report period, and brought a substan-
tial reduction in costs. The merger of the
Technical Divisions and maintenance units of
Austrian Airlines and Lauda Air also led to
marked improvements.
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Active capacity
management

Redefinition of fleet strategy

Against the background of the fundamen-
tal overall reorientation, 2002 was also
greatly influenced by a redefinition of fleet
strategy at the Austrian Airlines Group.
The redefinition has two core objectives:

0 to develop fleet capacity according to
levels of demand;

O totighten up the variety of types of air-
craft used in the Group.

Development of capacity
according to levels of demand

According to its strategy of active capaci-
ty management — the match of flight pro-
duction with demand — the Austrian
Airlines Group makes every possible
effort to sell aircraft not required, or to
return aircraft to operation in the short to
medium term where economically viable.
At the same time, Group policy on the
acquisition of new aircraft is highly con-
servative. Due to the production cut-
backs made necessary by the crisis, the
number of aircraft in operation in 2002




was once again reduced slightly, from 89
to 87 (each figure as at 31 December).

Based on existing long-term orders | the
Austrian Airlines Group fleet was further
supplemented by new aircraft in the
report year. However, the Group has post-
poned future deliveries by one to two
years. Deliveries of Airbus medium haul
aircraft, for example, originally scheduled
to begin in 2003, have been put back to
2004 /2005 in agreement with the manu-
facturer. At the same time, orders for
A320 and A321 have been converted to
the smaller A319 type, and an order for
one Boeing 777 has been changed to three
Boeing 737-800 ~ one of the most modern
and efficient medium haul aircraft in
operation today.

In the past financial year, one Canadair
RJ, one Dash 8400, one Boeing 737-800
and one Boeing 777-200 were newly
incorporated into the fleet. One Chal-
lenger CL600 was sold, as were two Dash
8-300 and one Boeing 737-300. As at
31 December 2002, one Boeing 737, three
Dash 8 (one with an agreement to pur-
chase) and two Learjet 60 had been leased
out. One Airbus 340, one Airbus 321, one
MD-83, one Boeing 767 and two Boeing
737 were taken out of service at various
times in the report period.

With an average age of just 6.26 years (as at
31 December 2002), the operational fleet
of the Austrian Airlines Group continues
to be amongst the youngest in the world.

Reducing the diversity of aircraft
types used in the Group

At present, the total operational fleet of
the Austrian Alirlines Group consists of
87 aircraft of various types and dimen-
sions, which break down in turn into
eleven different ‘fleet families’ from five
manufacturers. Such marked diversity is
a legacy of the differing market segments

Reduction to 87
aircraft

Favourable
conditions with
all suppliers

2002: four new

aircraft

Average age:
6.26 years

and the acquisition strategies of the four
carriers that have come together in today’s
Austrian Airlines Group. As this com-
plexity brings with it substantial addi-
tional costs in terms of maintenance, stor-
age of spare parts and flight operations,
measures taken to reduce capacity are
now also oriented towards fleet harmoni-
sation.

Purchasing management

The Austrian Airlines Group places
orders for aircraft directly with the man-
ufacturers. Two producers, Airbus and
Boeing, dominate the market for aircraft
with over 100 seats. Aircraft with less
than 80 seats are manufactured by Bom-
bardier (Dash, Canadair RJ) — the suppli-
er of Tyrolean Airways of many vears’
standing —, Embraer, British Aerospace,
Saab and Fokker (for used aircraft). The
Austrian Airlines Group always strives to
secure favourable conditions with its air-
craft suppliers.

The Austrian Airlines Group purchases
jet fuel by means of general agreements
with a range of different providers, which
deliver the fuel directly to the various
refuelling sites (airports). Prices for this
fuel are set in accordance with the world
market.

In catering, the Austrian Airlines Group
has cooperated successfully for a number
of years with the two leading providers in
the Austrian market, Airest and Do&Co.

Production Company Concept
successfully brings cost reduction

The Production Company Concept
introduced at the end of 2001 has proved
a complete success. It provides for the
clear allotment of responsibilities to the
individual companies within the Group,
and above all the objective measurement
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of those companies’ contribution to the
value of the Group and their ability to hit
set targets.

Under the Production Company Con-
cept, Austrian Airlines is responsible for
the provision of scheduled services on air-
craft with over 80 seats and the Cargo
Division. Tyrolean Airways covers region-

Merger of
Technical Divisions
Austrian Airlines /

Technical maintenance optimised
further

The merger of the Technical Divisions of
Austrian Airlines and Lauda Air was
implemented during the year, producing
an essential improvement in the techni-
cal maintenance sector. The successful
completion of the project enabled the

al traffic using aircraft with less than 80 Lauda Air Group to install a cluster system, within
seats, while Lauda Air is responsible for which the Airbus and McDonnell,
charter traffic and production of sched- Fokker and Canadair RJ and Boeing fleets
uled services on selected long haul routes were combined. From 2003 onwards,
of Austrian Airlines. responsibility for the maintenance of all
jet aircraft of the Group's three Produc-
In particular, the clear allocation of tion Companies will pass to the new Aus-
responsibility for costs, as well as the trian Airlines Technical Division and
related transparency and targeted optimi- High cost maintenance units.
sation, brought marked improvements in transparency
2002. All Production Companies suc- As a result of the restructuring of the
ceeded in reducing their cost base accord- Austrian Airlines Group, around EUR 12m
ing to budget. was saved in the Technical Division.
Fleet development’
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Scheduled fleet
Dash 8 15 16 18 18 18
Canadair RJ 16 16 18 19 19
Embraer RJ 3 3 0 0 0
Fokker 70 10 10 10 10 10
MD-80/X100 4 4 4 4 7
A319 0 0 3 6 6
A320 8 8 6 6 6
A321 6 6 6 6 6
Short and medium haul 62 63 65 69 72
A330 4 4 4 6 6
A340 3 4 4 3 3
B777 3 3 3 3 3
Long haul 10 11 11 12 12
Scheduled total 72 74 76 81 84
Charter fleet
MD-80/X100 5 3 2 0 0
A320 0 0 2 2 2
B737 7 8 6 7 11
B767 3 2 2 2 2
Charter total 15 13 12 11 15
Total 87 87 88 92 99

1 All figures refer to 31 December and take account of operationally employed aircraft (incl. replacement aircraft for maintenance-related standing times).
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Turn

guestions into answers

The merger of the Technical Divisions
of Austrian Airlines and Lauda Air alone
brought a permanent cost reduction of
EUR 7m. The employees of the Lauda Air
Technical Division were taken over by
Austrian Airlines, and the newly merged
unit completely reorganised. By the end
of 2002, the total number of personnel
employed in the Maintenance Division
had been reduced by over 130 people.

The restructuring of the Technical Divi-
sion also allowed the Group to expand its
third party business further, particularly
at the Vienna home base. As a result,
the Technical Division has taken over
additional maintenance activities for
Lufthansa, Egypt Air, Tunis Air, Royal
Jordanian and Aeroflot at Vienna Inter-
national Airport.

PUUUJ.B

Clear cost
reduction

Third party
business expanded

Farreaching IT system
standardisation

The harmonisation of different, and
in part parallel, infrastructures and
applications within the Group contin-
in 2002
The most important single project

ued according to plan
involved the introduction of a Group-
wide SAPR/3 system for commercial
management, which went into action
with all modules on 1 January 2003
A range of applications were also har-
monised in the Flight Operations and
Maintenance Divisions during the
report period. The Group also began to
construct a forward-looking and flexible
data platform (Business Intelligence) for
the rapid and flexible provision of infor-
mation for controlling purposes.

Management Report / Strategic Fleet Management 51




Corporate Citizenship

In its role as a Group of Austrian "flag carri-
ers", the Austrian Airlines Group considers it
its duty, even during a difficult commercial
phase such as this, to provide as much sup-
port as possible for specific humanitarian
and social projects. The Group also makes an
invaluable contribution to the promotion of
sporting and cultural activities through its
support for a variety of projects and institu-
tions. Also of core importance in this area is
the Group’s active minimisation of any detri-
mental environmental effects associated with
its commercial activity.
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Support for more
than 100 social
projects

An unshakeable belief in social
and charitable responsibility

For the Austrian Airlines Group, 2002
was a year characterised by corporate
restructuring and related cost-cutting
measures throughout the organisation.
As a Group of Austrian flag carriers,
however, the Austrian Airlines Group
has retained its fundamental belief in
social and charitable responsibility, even
during such a demanding period for the
company.

In 2002, the Austrian Airlines Group
supervised and provided flight services
for over 100 charitable and social
projects at the individual and group lev-
els. These included international medical
aid projects and medical transports, the
organisation of convalescent breaks for
children from crisis regions, support for a
number of renowned aid organisations
based in Austria and the acceptance of
several tons of donation transports as air
cargo.

In August 2002, Austrian Airlines Group
employees launched a spontaneous inter-



nal campaign designed to raise money for
the victims of the disastrous flooding
across eastern Austria. After the compa-
ny itself had matched every euro donat-
ed by employees in recognition of their
efforts, the exemplary staff campaign
raised around EUR 137,000.

As part of a campaign at Christmas 2002,
the Austrian Airlines Group decided to
forego the usual staff celebrations in
order that the company could make a
substantial donation to the Christoffel
Mission for the Blind.

Austrian Airlines Group
sponsors the Austrian cultural
and sporting scene

Austria enjoys numerous internationally
renowned cultural centres and initiatives,
which attract wide audiences from
around the world. In this environment,
the Austrian Airlines Group has tradi-
tionally appeared as the sponsor of high-
value artistic and cultural events, helping
to strengthen Austria’s already outstand-
ing reputation as a cultural nation.

During the report period, the Austrian
Airlines Group sponsored the "Gustav
Klimt Landscapes" exhibition in Vienna's
Oberes Belvedere art gallery, the capital’s
Kunsthistorisches Museum, the Vere-
inigte Bithnen Wien theatre company
and the year-long Graz 2003/European
Cultural Capital project. From 2003
onwards, the Austrian Airlines Group
will also sponsor the Salzburg Festival.

Austrian Airlines Group support for
these initiatives and events consists pri-
marily of meeting the costs of flights for
artists and the transportation of works of
art. The Group also uses its numerous
external branches and offices in Austria
and abroad to advertise cultural events in
Austria.

Help for flood

victims

Fair and
undistorted
competition

Sponscring of
many different
cultural events

In the area of sports, 2002 saw the
Austrian Airlines Group act as official

backer to the Austrian Olympic Team for
the seventh time when the Group spon-
sored the team to attend the Winter
Olympics in Salt Lake City.

Competition Compliance

For an important niche player in Euro-
pean aviation such as the Austrian
Airlines Group, cooperation agreements
with alliance partners and third compa-
nies are crucial. The Group strongly
believes in fair and undistorted competi-
tion within the framework of such co-
operation agreements. Those employees
affected are informed of the general
rules of competition and basic provi-
sions of the European Law on Cartels
within a "Competition Compliance"
training programme.

Passengers cast votes in Austrian
general election while in-flight

In an effort to make it easier for Austrian
passengers to exercise their constitution-
al rights, the airlines of the Group
devised a system in November 2002
whereby votes in that month’s parlia-
mentary election could be cast on all
flights outside Austria,

Strong commitment towards
environmental protection

The Austrian Airlines Group is commit-
ted to the minimisation of any detri-
mental environmental effects associated
with its business activities. The Austrian
Airlines Group has a tradition of close
co-operation with aircraft and engine
manufacturers in an effort to develop
environmentally friendly aircraft tech-
nologies and flight procedures.
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Due to its thoroughgoing conversion to
environmentally friendly aircraft and
engines, the Austrian Airlines Group has
succeeded in reducing emissions of
nitrogen oxides by around 40 % since
1992. Noise reduction is another focus
activity, and the Group has developed
new flight procedures in cooperation
with Vienna International Airport in an
effort to drive down noise levels during
take-off and landing. The Austrian
Airlines Group also uses its own jet
silencer for engine tests, which reduces
noise emissions to an absolute minimum

during these operationally necessary
checks.

The de-icing fluid used to treat Group
aircraft is 100 % biologically degradable,
and environmental compatibility is also
fully taken into account in the selection
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Refuse separation

Noise reduction a
priority

of suitable cleaning agents. Specific
sewage treatment plants are designed to
ensure that any detrimental effects on
the environment are minimised.

The Austrian Airlines Group also pays
consistent attention to the separation
of its refuse. When selecting articles to
be used in-flight, the airlines take care
to avoid plastic packaging wherever
possible and to use paper products
instead.
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[FRS Consolidated Income Smtemem
for the Financial Year 2002

EURm Notes 2002 2001
Flight revenue 7 20552 1,910.1
Other revenue 8 1492 185.5
Revenue 2,204.4 2,095.6
Changes in inventories 9 18 2.7
Income from disposal of non-current assets 10 0.5 17.3
Other operating income 10 1913 56.2
Operating revenue 2,398.0 2,171.8
Expenses for materials and services 11 -1,356.2 -1,4180
Personnel expenses 12 -402.8 -4299
Depreciation and amortisation 13 —343.2 —2247
u Other operating expenses 14 -2544 —-188.1
Operating expenses -2,356.6 -2,260.7
Result from operating activities (EBIT) 41.4 -88.9
Result from associates 15 5.1 28
Financial expenses 16 =955 -131.9
Financial income 16 425 65.5
Other financial expenses and income 17 10.7 -116
Financial result -37.2 -75.2
Profit/Loss before tax 4.2 -164.1
[ncome taxes 18 390 -12
Profit/Loss after tax 432 -165.3
Minority interests -04 =07
Net profit/loss for the year 42.8 -166.0
Earnings per share EUR 1.29 -4.88
Diluted earnings per share EUR 1.26 n.a.

The following Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this Consolidated Income Statement.
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IFRS Consolidated Balance Sheet
as of 31 December 2002

Assets

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 20 32.8 396
Aircraft 21 26546 2,798.1
Other tangible assets 22 136.2 144.6
Investments in associates 24 76 72
Other financial assets 24 270.1 3709
Other non-current assets 27 1080 68.2
Deferred tax assets 28 1088 68.8
Non-current assets 3,318.1 3,497.4
Current assets
Inventories 25 479 553
Trade receivables 26 159.2 2320
Other current assets 27 69.1 76.0
Short-term investments 29 346 224.7
Cash on hand and at bank 30 1505 723
Current assets 511.3 660.3
Total assets 3,829.4 4,157.7

Shareholders' equity and liabilities

EURm Notes 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Shareholders' equity

Issued share capital 31 247.2 2472
Reserves 32 267.0 4479
Net profit/loss for the year 423 -166.0
Shareholders' equity 557.0 529.1
Minority interests 3.6 2.4

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 33 390.7 3536
Interest-bearing liabilities 34 1,961.4 22110
Other liabilities 35 56.6 328
Non-current liabilities 2,408.7 2,647.4

Current liabilities

Provisions 33 3343 2366
Interest-bearing liabilities 34 3102 4942
Income tax liabilities 4.3 19
Other liabilities 35 2113 246.1
Current liabilities 860.1 978.8
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 3,829.4 4,157.7

The following Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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IFRS Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
1 January 2001 to 31 December 2002

|
!
£ EURm Issued share Capital Retained Total
£ capital reserves  earnings incl.
| Net profit/loss
‘ for the year
as at 31.12.2000 247.2 278.0 173.4 698,6
Dividend payment -10.2 -102
IAS 39 adopted for the first time 6.7 6.7
Other changes -
Net loss for the year -166.0 -166.0
as at 31.12.2001 247.2 278.0 39 529.1
Share buy back -14.7 -14.7
Other changes ~0.2 -0.2
B Net profit for the year 42.8 4238
as at 31.12.2002 247.2 278.0 31.8 557.0
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IFRS Cash Flow Statement
for the Financial Year 2002

EURm 2002 2001
Profit/Loss before tax 42 -164.1
Depreciation of non-current assets 3432 2247
Result from sale of non-current assets -0.5 -173
Result from associates =51 2.8
Net interest 530 66.4
Income taxes paid ~2.0 -6.9
Changes in inventories 7.4 -09
Changes in assets 1502 -27.8
Changes in provisions 1347 342
Changes in liabilities (excl. financial liabilities) -59.8 -56.4
Other non-ash changes -104.4 -

Cash flows from operating activities 520.9 49.1
Investments in tangible and

intangible assets —-248.7 -400.4
Investments in financial assets - -35.3
Expenses related to purchase of consolidated interests - -52
Cash acquired from first time consolidation - 1.2
Income from sale of non-current assets 48.1 1249
Financial income 425 65.5

Cash flows from investing activities -158.1 -249.3
Change in interest-bearing liabilities -329.2 1394
Dividend payment -102
Financial expenses =955 -131.9

Cash flows from financing activities —-424.7 -2.7

Change in cash and cash equivalents -61.9 —202.9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 297.0 499.9

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 235.1 297.0

The following Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this Cash Flow Statement.
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Notes

Introduction

The consolidated financial statements of Austrian Airlines
Osterreichische Luftverkehrs-Aktiengesellschaft (in the
following: Austrian Airlines AG) have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). In March 1999, taking into account the
trend towards international accounting, the Austrian
legislator passed the Law on Consolidated Accounts
(Konzernabschlussgesetz). According to this law, any
consolidated financial statements and management reports
prepared in accordance with internationally accepted
accounting principles are to be recognised as a replacement
of the consolidated financial statements according to
Austrian accounting principles {Austrian Commercial
Code). The financial year 2000 was the first in which
Austrian Airlines took this opportunity to use IFRS to
prepare its consolidated financial statements in this way.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in millions of EUR. The data for the financial year 2002
relate to the balance sheet date 31 December 2002 and
the period from 1 January to 31 December 2002 respec-
tively.

By preparing the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with internationally accepted accounting principles
based on the EUR, the company will meet the growing need
amongst the investor community and financial experts for
annual accounts based upon internationally comparable

information.

60 Notes

In its domestic market of Austria, the Austrian Airlines
Group is the market leader in terms of passenger volume
handled. It covers all sectors of the air travel industry. The
commercial sectors of the Group’s operative airlines include
scheduled and charter services, the transportation of cargo
and airmail and the performance of technical and handling
services for other airlines. The headquarters of the company

are located in Vienna.

As well as its three operative airlines of Austrian Airlines,
Tyrolean Airways and Lauda Air, the Austrian Airlines
Group also includes a number of other companies in the
transport, tourism and financial sectors, all of which provide
strategic support for Flight Operations.

Preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of all fully consolidated companies
both at home and abroad, which are material to the
group accounts or subject to statutory audit according
to national regulations, were audited by independent
auditors and provided with unqualified audit opinions.
The orderly reconciliation of the statutory financial
statements to individual IFRS financial statements based
on Group accounting guidelines was also confirmed by
the auditors. The annual financial statements of the
consolidated companies were based on historical cost as of
the balance sheet date of the consolidated financial



statements. In the view of a true and fair presentation,
individual items in the Balance Sheet and Income State-
ment have been presented in a condensed form. These
items have been broken down separately in the Notes to
the Financial Statements.

New standards

No new IFRS standards applicable by the company were
published in the year under review.

Accounting principles

The consolidated financial statements of Austrian Airlines
AG and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
taking into account the Interpretations of the Standing Inter-
pretations Committee (SIC). All the standards referred to
were also applied in the previous year.

Income and expenditure

Income from services and the sale of merchandise are
recognised when the corresponding service has been
performed or when the risks and rewards associated with the
right of ownership are transferred to the buyer. The other
criteria included in IAS 18 (Revenue) are normally also met
at this time. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received taking into account the amount of
any trade discounts. Financial income is valued on a propor-
tional basis, taking the effective interest rate into account.

Dividends are recognised at the time at which the legal claim
to the dividend is established.

At the time at which the income is recognised, the relating
expenditure is also recognised (matching principle), provid-
ed that, if the expenditure has not yet led to an outflow of
resources, a liability exists.

Intangible and tangible assets
Intangible and tangible assets are valued at acquisition or pro-
duction costs less amortisation and depreciation charges
based on the Group's accounting principles. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight-line basis. Assets are depreciated from
the beginning of the benefits received from the use of the
asset. Interest expenses are not capitalised.

The estimated useful life of intangible assets are as follows:

Type Estimated useful life in years
Software licences and other rights 3-10
Goodwill 10-20
Negative goodwill 18

The depreciation period is based on the estimated useful life of
the asset. The estimated useful life of each type of aircraft —
when new = is as follows:

Type Estimated useful life Residual

in years valuein %
B777 20 10
B767 20 10
B737 18 10
A340 20 10
A330 20 10
A310 18 10
A321 18 10
A320 18 10
MD-80 15 10
Fokker 70 15 10
Canadair RJ 15 10
Embraer RJ 15 10
Dash 8 12 10
Learjet 12 10

The estimated useful life of tangible assets are as follows:

Type Estimated useful life in years
Buildings 20~ 50
Office fixtures and fittings 10
Commercial machinery and equipment 5-10
Cars 8
Technical equipment 5
EDP equipment 3-10

If an asset is impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its
lower recoverable amount. The value of the asset is deter-
mined by discounting the expected future earnings attribut-
able to this asset.

According to the market value estimates produced for the
aircraft stock depreciation to a lower recoverable amount is
not required. In detail, calculation is made on the basis of
so-called Cash Generating Units. Since all aircraft are used for
all traffic streams according to the transferral concept of the
Austrian Airlines Group, the total Group fleet has been
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included as a single Unit. An interest rate of 5.5 % has been set
for the purposes of calculation. Because the book values of
the aircraft intended for sale were above the market values, it
was necessary to make additional valuation allowances of
EUR 106.5m for these aircraft.

Lease financing

Under TAS 17 (Accounting for Leases), economic owner-
ship of the lease is attributed to the lessee if this person
bears substantially all risks and rewards connected with the
ownership of the lease. If it is determined that the econom-
ic ownership lies with the Austrian Airlines Group then the
lease is capitalised, effective from inception of the lease
agreement, at the present value of the future lease payments
including, if appropriate, any incidental costs born by the
lessee. Both the depreciation charge and the estimated use-
ful life correspond with that of comparable assets pur-

chased.

Financial assets

Financial assets are capitalised and calculated at cost. Non-
current low or non-interest bearing loans are valued at the
net present value as at the date of issuance. Marketable shares
quoted on a stock exchange are valued at the balance sheet
date at the lower of cost or market. Investments in non-con-
solidated subsidiaries and other investments are valued at
cost. As at the balance sheet date other financial assets are
written down to the lower of cost or market, where this

reduction is deemed permanent.

In accordance with [AS 22 {Business Combinations), the dif-
ference between the negative IAS shareholder’s equity of
Lauda Air and the net book value of the investment record-
ed in the Austrian Airlines Group, as of 31 October 2000 of
approximately EUR 135.7m, which arose from the change in
accounting for Lauda Air from equity to fully consolidated,
was allocated to the aircraft in direct relation to their hidden
reserves. Subsequently the allocated goodwill is amortised
over the remaining useful life of the asset or, upon sale,
added to the net book value of the asset. In as far as the hid-
den reserves are foreign currency related (USD), impair-
ment charges were required to account for the loss incurred,
which were offset by a corresponding change in foreign cur-
rency liabilities.

Changes in value based upon the recoverable fair value aris-

ing from securities of the non-current assets have been
reported as affecting net income.
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Inventories

Inventories include non-reparable spare parts, raw materials
and supplies and related goods, and prepayments on invento-
ries. Inventories are valued at cost. Cost is based on average
cost, whereby interest expense is not included. As at the bal-
ance sheet date inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
net realisable value, Net realisable value is determined by the
net selling price of the final product.

Accounts receivable

Short-term accounts receivable are valued at cost. Low- or
non-interest-bearing monetary accounts receivable, repay-
able after more than one year, are valued at the initial net
present value. Doubtful accounts receivable are written
down to the lower realisable value. Provision is also made for
general economic risk by means of valuation allowances.
Accounts receivable in foreign currencies are translated at
the mid-market price as at the balance sheet date. This item
also includes loan acquisition and interest expenses, which
are amortised in accordance with the respective terms.

Short-term securities

Short-term securities are valued at the lower of cost or market
price, which was determined on the basis of a single item
valuation.

Derivatives

The Austrian Airlines Group uses derivatives to provide cover-
age against interest rate and currency risks, and to hedge against
the fuel price risk. These are valued at the foreign currency
ratios correct at the time of settlement. Fuel price hedging is car-
ried out in the form of fixed price agreements and option trans-
actions on the crude and fuel oil market. Swaps and option
transactions were in use as at 31 December 2002. Profits and
losses arising through fuel price hedging are recorded under
tuel expenditure. The option premiums paid at the inception of
the interest rate, currency or fuel price hedging transactions are
carried as an asset (until the option is exercised or expires) and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. They
are valued as at the balance sheet date at the lower of cost or
market. At the expiration/exercise date the full-capitalised
amount is charged /credited either to interest expense, foreign
currency exchange differences or fuel expenditure.

Provision for pensions, severance payments and

anniversary bonuses

In addition to specific pension commitments with senior
employees especially members of the Board of Management
of the Group have the following primarily defined benefit
pension plans.




Pension plan

A pension plan exists for all employees employed by Austrian
Airlines AG within Austria, for employees seconded abroad
or for individual senior employees of subsidiaries. Also
included in this scheme are all senior employees appointed
after 1994,

With effect from 31 December 1994, the previously valid
pension contribution regulation for commercial and techni-
cal employees of the company was transferred into a pension
fund and converted to a defined contribution scheme. In the
Federal Republic of Germany, a similar agreement exists
with the employees whereby this is based on an agreement.
The company made the appropriate provisions for this lia-
bility until 31 December 2002; from 1 January 2003, it was
converted into a local pension contribution regulation. With
effect as of 31 December 1996, the pension contribution reg-
ulations for the pilots and flight attendants of Austrian Air-
lines AG were also transferred to an external pension fund.
The collective bargaining agreement foresees a pension for
pilots, payable at the earliest at the age of 55, amounting to
60 % of final salary, whereby this incorporates the entitle-
ment of the ASVG pension, any invalidity benefit as well as
the widows’ and orphans’ pension with an upper limit. For
flight attendants, a direct contribution scheme dependent
upon the length of service and limited to 20 % of final salary
is in existence. A pension for the surviving dependants of
flight attendants, the amount of which will be restricted, is
also in existence.

Provisions have also been made at Tyrolean Airways for a
new employee pension guaranteed on a collective basis
and amounting to 2 % of respective gross annual remuner-
ation.

Employees subject to Austrian Law have the right, if their
period of employment has lasted for three years without
interruption, to a severance payment in case of termination
of their terms of employment by the employer or resignation
for an important reason, if they have been employed for at
least 10 years and in any case, upon retirement. The payment
depends on the annual salary at the time of termination and
the length of employment. The provisions for pensions, sev-
erance payments and anniversary bonuses have been calcu-
lated under the "Anwartschaftsbarwertverfahren”, which
roughly corresponds to the "Projected Unit Credit Method".
The provisions are calculated annually as at year-end by an
external actuary.

The provisions have been calculated using the following

actuarial assumptions:

O Biometrical parameters: "Rechnungsgrundlagen fiir die
Pensionsversicherung von FW. Pagler — unversffentlicht”
using the forecasting factors stated in "Berufsunfihig-
keitsversicherung in Osterreich" by Pagler & Pagler:

o Fluctuation: for severance payments and anniversary
bonuses, between 1.5 % and 12.0 % depending upon age
and type of collective agreement

0 Age of retirement: 61.5 for males and 56.5 for females

0 Discount rate: 5.5% pa.

o Salary increases: between 2.5 % and 5.0 % p.a. depending
upon years of service and remuneration, whereby increa-
ses shall incorporate estimated rates of inflation of 2% p.a.
and career assumptions

0 Pension increase: 20 % p.a.

0 Pension fund surplus: 5.5 %

When income or expenses resulting from either a change in
one of the assumptions or from actuarial gains and losses
exceed the defined benefit obligation as at the previous year
end by more than 10 %, then the excess over the 10% is
charged /credited annually by the amount of the remaining
period of service. The pension provision is calculated in
accordance with TAS 19 (Employee Benefit Costs) using the
"Anwartschaftsbarwertverfahren".

Tax and other provisions

Tax and other provisions are recorded to the extent that an
obligation exists to third parties, that future payments are
probable and that the provisions can be measured reliably.
Should none of these criteria be applicable then the corre-
sponding obligation is reported under contingencies. Pro-
visions payable after more than one year are recorded at
the net present value. The requirement and valuation of
the provisions are re-examined each year. Provisions in for-
eign currency are translated at the closing rate. For expect-
ed maintenance work to be carried out by third parties,
pro-rata provision is made on the basis of maintenance
requirements as determined by the regulatory authorities.
The provision for commitments under the "Miles & More"
frequent flyer programme is calculated in line with the
agreement drawn up with Lufthansa. The provision in this
item from the previous year associated with the general
comparison with the Lauda Privatstiftung continues
unchanged.
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Liabilities
The item of EUR 240.0m as amounts owed to banks with a
term of over one year was based upon oral information pro-

vided by the financing banks about authorised or intended
extensions of amounts principally due within one year.

The preference shares issued by Lauda Air which were sub-
ject to a mandatory public offer by Austrian Airlines were
overwhelmingly repurchased and charged /credited in the
year under review. The shares in Lauda Air that could not be
purchased by Austrian Airlines AG after the mandatory pub-
lic offer were split off into a special purpose company.

Liabilities arising from financing lease agreements are valued
at the present value of future lease payments in force at the
conclusion of the agreement. Other liabilities are valued at
the repayable amount. Liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the closing rate.

In connection with lease financing, a commitment was made
to observe defined ratios of balance sheet cover in relation to
contractual partners in case a fundamental change in owner-
ship structure should occur.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with IAS 12
(Income Taxes) under the "Full Liability Method". Under IAS
12, deferred tax is calculated on timing differences between
the tax base and the respective IAS values at the level of the
individual companies. A deferred tax asset has been capi-
talised for tax losses only to the extent that these will be
utilised in the near future.

Estimates

In the consolidated financial statements, it is necessary to
make certain estimates and assumptions, which can have an
influence upon the value of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses in, and on the notes to, the financial statements. It is
possible that the actual amounts may vary from such esti-
mates used.

Methods of consclidation

All significant subsidiaries under the legal and/or actual
control of Austrian Airlines AG are included in the con-
solidated financial statements. Significant associates are
accounted for under the "Equity Method" if the Group
holds an interest of between 20 and 50 per cent and exer-
cises significant influence. Other investments are carried
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at cost. Capital consolidation is based on the "Book Value
Method". For the purpose of initial consolidation of sub-
sidiaries, acquisition costs of equity investments are com-
pared to the Group's share in the carrying amount of the
respective company’s equity. The difference between
acquisition cost and prorated equity is, as a rule, allocated
initially to the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities up to the
amount of the difference between fair value and carrying
amount. In subsequent consolidations, the hidden
reserves and encumbrances, disclosed as a result of this
measure, shall be carried forward, amortised or released in
accordance with the treatment of the corresponding assets
and liabilities. Any excess of the costs of acquisition over
the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired is recognised as goodwill and
amortised over its estimated useful life, applying the
straight-line method. According to the transitional provi-
sions in IAS 22 (Business Combinations), goodwill arising
up to 31 December 1994 is charged directly to the
reserves.

Should the goodwill not be covered by the present value
of future revenues, it is subject to impairment. The value
of the acquired net assets exceeding the acquisition costs
is recognised as a negative goodwill and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the remaining useful life of the
non-monetary fixed assets (18 years). The carrying
amount of the investments accounted for using the equity
method is increased or reduced respectively at each
reporting date by Austrian Airlines Group’s pro-rata share
of the associates’ or joint ventures' changes in equity capi-
tal. The difference between the carrying amount of the
equity investments and the prorated equity of the compa-
ny is allocated and carried forward on the basis of some
principles as applicable to full consolidation. Effects
resulting from inter-Group transactions are eliminated.
Receivables and liabilities between consolidated compa-
nies are netted; inter-Group profits and losses included in
fixed assets and inventories are eliminated. For temporary
differences from consolidation, deferred taxes are recog-
nised as required under IAS 12,

Scope of consolidation

Eleven (twelve in the previous year) subsidiaries are fuily
consolidated. The investments in five (five in the previous
year) associates are accounted for in the consolidated finan-
cial statement under the equity method. Other invest-
ments are carried at cost or, if the current market value has




declined permanently, at the lower market value in the

consolidated balance sheet. Companies have been included
in the consolidated financial statements on the basis of
their significance. The companies not included are consid-
ered to be insignificant on a stand-alone as well as on an
overall basis regarding the true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. Thg following sub-
sidiaries were included in the consolidated financial state-
ments on the basis of full consolidation:

Charter Marketing Lauda — Austrian GmbH was merged
with Lauda Air Luftfahrt GmbH with effect from 1 Janu-
ary 2002. Shares originally issued by Lauda Air that could
not be purchased by Austrian Airlines AG in the course of
its mandatory public offer were split off into NG Verms-
gensverwaltungs AG from Lauda Air AG. With effect from
27 August 2002, Lauda Air Luftfahrt AG was converted
into a GmbH. Rheintalflug Vorarlberger Luftfahrt GmbH
was retrospectively merged with Tyrolean Airways from
1 January 2002

Company Headquarters Holding
in% 6] Currency translation
AUA Beteiligungen Gesellschaft mb.H. Vienna 100.0
Austrian Airlines Lease and Finance The acquisition costs of assets purchased in foreign currency
Company Limited St. Peter Port 1000 . g L . . .
Tyrolean Airways Tiroler Luftfahrt GmbH  Innsbruck 1000 ~ primarily aircraft invoiced in USD — are determined using
AUA Versicherungs-Service Gesellschaft mbH.  Vienna 1000 the exchange rates effective at the time of payment. In the
Austrian Airtransport, Osterreichische case of rate-hedged payments, acquisition costs are based on
Flugbetriebsgeselischaft mbH. Vienna 1000 the hedged rates. The trends in the most important exchange
Lauda Air Luftfahrt GmbH Schwechat 100.0 rates in relation to EUR are as follows:
UIA Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna 7778 )
ACS Aircontainer Services Gesellschaft mbH.  Vienna 760
TRAVIAUSTRIA Datenservice fiir Reise .
und Touristik Gesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna 65.0 Currency conversion
AVICON Aviation Consult Gesellschaft mbH.  Vienna 60.0 EUR 2002 2001
AVS Privatkunden Versicherungsservice GmbH  Vienna 51.0 Market Average Market Average
price on price on
reporting reporting
The investments in the following associates were accounted date date
for under the equity method: USD 10487 00511 08813 0.8960
JPY 124,39 118,08 115,33 107,84
CHF 1,4524 1,4660 1,4829 15131
Company Headquarters  Holding  Gpp 06505 06298 06085 06226
in %
Airest Restaurant- und
Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft m.b.H. Schwechat 350
"AirPlus" Air Travel Card
Vertriebsgesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna 3333
GTT Holding GmbH Vienna 250
GULET TOUROPA Touristik GmbH Vienna 250
TUI-Austria Reiseveranstaltungs-GmbH Vienna 25.0

An overview of the equity interests can be found on page 84f.
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Notes to the Consolidated

[ncome Statement

Flight revenue

Flight revenue by type of service

aircraft leasing of EUR 37.3m in the year under review
relates principally to the leasing of three aircraft of the
type B767 to Lauda Italy and one A310 to a Spanish airline,
one B737, two CRJ and two Dash 8. The Other revenue

EURm 2002 2001 . .
item includes revenue from personnel expenses. Revenue
Scheduled _ Passengers 17022 15806 from service provider charges and the corresponding
Zizzs baggage ng 10::471 lease of equipment is overwhelmingly attributable to
Airmall 73 58 TRAVIAUSTRIA.
Scheduled Total 18338 1,7015
Charter 2214 2086
2,055.2 1,910.1 (8] Changes in inventories
The capitalised own services included in the changes in
Other revenue inventories totalled EUR 1.8m and principally represent
modification work on aircraft as well as self-constructed
EURm 2002 P
Sales of goods 41.7 395
Commissions 132 34.0 . .
Technical services 211 22.4 Other operating income
Handling services 153 94
Aircraft lease 373 67.3 EURm 2002 2001
Revenue from service provider charges 10.2 94
Other 104 35 Income from disposal of non-current assets _
1492 1855 excluding financial assets 05 17.3
Income from release of provisions 9.1 2053
Income from charges to third parties 53 123
The commissions are primarily due to ticket sales for other Rental income 38 36
airlines. The fall compared to the previous year results Foreign currency exchange rate gains 141.7 69
from the reduction in the corresponding percentage rate Damages 121 51
. . . .. Other operating income 193 7.8
with a business partner, which also led to areduction in the o1& 35

corresponding commission expenses. The revenue from
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Income from the disposal of non-current assets excluding

financial assets is primarily attributable to the sale of two
Dash 8300 and of rotables. Other operating income
includes the amortisation of negative goodwill resulting
from the first time consolidation amounting to EUR 0.1m.

Expenses for materials and services

EURm 2002 2001
Aircraft fuel 2168 256.1
Landing and handling charges 2743 262.8
En route charges 116.7 1086
Aircraft parts 300 292
Subcontracted aircraft overhauls 1273 1373
Travel expenses of crew 247 273
Long-term aircraft lease 387 349

Short-term aircraft lease
(ground transports, Blocked Space

Agreements, etc.) 400 489
Expenditure on commissions 1785 2144
Passenger servicing 945 115.8
Passenger landing charges 123.7 90.8
Expenditure on reservation systems 41.0 37.7
Merchandise for resale 206 20.7
Other material usage and

purchased services 289 335

133562  1,4180

Personnel expenses

EURm 2002 2001
Wages and salaries 286.1 3039
Severance payments 9.9 205
Pensions 314 214
Compulsory social expenses 67.5 72.2
Other social expenses 79 119

402.8 429.9

The fall in Personnel expenses is attributable to the reduction

in the number of employees and the temporary salary waiver

by employees.

Average number of employees

The figure of 7,358 employees includes 71 blue-collar
employees (84 in the previous year). This breakdown
includes part-time employees on a proportionate basis of
their working hours. The change in the number of employees
at the individual companies also reflects the transferral of
management activities within the Group.

Depreciation and amortisation

The breakdown of depreciation and amortisation amounting
to EUR 343.2m is presented separately in the respective item
(19ff.) in the Notes. This item includes EUR 106.5m as depre-
ciations for the lower market value of aircraft specified for
disposal in the year under review. Furthermore, EUR 0.4m
arises from goodwill amortisation. Income related to negative
goodwill amortisation is reported under Other operating
income.

Other operating expenses

EURm 2002 2001
Austrian Airlines 4941 5,164
Lauda Air 1272 1,594
Tyrolean Airways (including Rheintalflug) 1,066 1,119
Other Group employees 79 77

7,358 7,954

EURm 2002 2001
Other costs of premises and plant 56.3 60.0
Foreign currency exchange rate losses 37.3 103
Insurance 350 139
Advertising and representation expenses 303 36.2
Consultancy costs 16.3 148
Claims 140 45
Ticket invoicing, call center costs, etc. 131 983
Losses of receivables 101 4.1

Postage and telecommunications
charges 82 12
Travel expenses of ground staff 65 3.0
Taxes (excluding taxes on income) 44 32
Other operating expenses 229 112
254.4 188.1

The Other operating expenses item includes bank charges
and various administrative costs, etc.

Result from associates

In the year under review, the Result from associates
includes results from investments in Airest, AirPlus,
GULET TOUROPA Touristik and TUI-Austria.
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Financial expenses and income

The effective income tax credit in the year under review is as

follows:
EURm 2002 2001
Income from other securities and other EURm 2002 2001
long-term financial assets 26.8 379 Profit before tax 42 -164.1
Other interest and similar income 157 276 Income tax expenses applying the
Interest and similar financial expenses -95.5 -1319 Austrian corporate income tax rate of
-53.0 —66.4 34 % 14 =557
Valuation allowance tax losses carry
forward 228 228
Change in temporary diff
Other financial expenses and income (Corrglmercial iw iax I:\rf)nces 371 251
Effect of tax rates deviating from
Austrian corporate income tax rate -100 23
EURm 2002 2001 Other 2161 67
Result from other investments 31 ~145 Effective tax income (=) /expense (+) -39.0 1.2
Income from sale of financial assets 91 1,0
Result from securities -15 19
10,7 2116 The positive Other effects relate to the partial usage of tax

The positive Result from other investments in the year under
review relates primarily to the dividend of Osterreichisches
Verkehrsbtiro, while the previous year’s negative Result from
other investments primarily included provisions for the
shares in Lesino and the holdings of Lauda Air in subsidiaries
(OE-LAU and Lauda Air Italy).

Income taxes

Both income taxes paid or owed by the individual companies
and deferred tax charge (income) are recorded as income

taxes.

EURm 2002 2001
Deferred tax income -40.0 -
Other income tax expenses LO 1.2

-39.0 1.2

For a detailed breakdown of the assets and liabilities on which
deferred income tax is based, please see item 28, p. 73.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Ralance Sheet

Non-current assets

EURm Intangible Aircraft,  Other fixed Financial Total
assets reserve assets assets assets
engines,
spare parts
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01 2002 88.7 36176 3725 3934 44722
Additions 78 228.1 1238 14.6 2633
Disposals 10.1 1317 30.1 1138 2858
Reclassifications - 01 —0.1 - -
Balance 31.12.2002 86.4 37141 355.1 2942 44497
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 138 3090 196 23 3447
Accumulated depreciation 53.5 1,059.5 2189 16.5 1,3485
Book value 31.12.2002 328 2,6546 136.1 2776 31012
Book value 01.01.2002 396 2,798.1 144.6 3782 3,360.5

Tangible assets also include leased assets, which, due to the
substance of the lease agreements, are treated as finance
leases although there is no legal ownership by the Group.
The development of these assets is shown under Note 23.
Of the aircraft used as at the end of the year under review,
seven Fokker 70, one A340, four A321, one A320, one B777,
three B767, five B737, seven CRJ, three ERJ and two Dash 8

are finance leases. Almost all aircraft and parts of the spare
engines, as well as deposit payments, are pledged within

. the framework of financing agreements to the benefit of

the financing institutions or — in the case of finance
leases — represent the property of the financing institutions
or project companies. Junior liens (Hyperocha) also serve
as a security for credit lines.
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Intangible assets

EURm Industrial Goodwill Negative Advance Total
property rights Goodwill payments
and similar rights {Badwill)
and licences
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01.2002 790 98 -13 12 88.7
Additions 5.5 - -14 37 7.8
Disposals 10.3 - -0.2 - 10.1
Reclassifications - - - - -
Balance 31.12.2002 74.2 98 =25 49 86.4
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 124 1.6 -0.2 - 13.8
accumulated depreciation 500 39 -04 = 53.5
Book value 31.12.2002 24.2 59 =21 49 329
Book value 01.01.2002 320 7.5 -1.0 1.2 396
Additions relate to the purchase of rights for the improvement
and upgrade of information systems.
Aircraft
EURm Aircraft Reserve Advance pay- Total
engines, spare ments and

parts and  assets under
equipment  construction
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01.2002 31875 2927 1373 36176
Additions 1888 245 148 2281
Disposals 107.2 240 05 131.7
Reclassifications 82.0 12 -83.2 0.1
Balance 31.12.2002 3351.1 2945 68.5 3,714.1
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 2852 213 26 3090
Accumulated depreciation 9364 1205 26 1,059.5
Book value 31.12.2002 24147 174.0 659 2,654.6
Book value 01.01.2002 2,485.7 175.1 1373 2,798.1

A total of EUR 2281m was spent on the acquisition of
aircraft, reserve engines, rotables and modifications. In
the long haul sector, one B777 was purchased, while one
B737-800, one Dash 8400Q and one Canadair Regional Jet
were purchased in the medium haul and regional flight
sectors. Additions related to the advance payments for assets
under construction totalling EUR 14.8m relate principally to
the delivery of aircraft of the types A319/320/321, B777,
B737, Dash 8 and Canadair Regional Jet. Disposals of tangible
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assets relate primarily to the sale of two Dash 8300, one
B737 and one Challenger.

According to the market value estimates produced for the
aircraft stock of the company under review, depreciation to a
lower recoverable amount is not required for those aircraft
employed in the longer term. In detail, calculation is made on
the basis of so-called Cash Generating Units. Since all aircraft
are used for all traffic streams according to the transferral




concept of the Austrian Airlines Group, the total Group fleet
has been included as a single Unit. An interest rate of 5.5 %
has been set for the purposes of calculation. Because the book

Other tangible assets

Additions reported as plant equipment are primarily
attributable to new purchases for the improvement of
IT infrastructure.

values of those aircraft specified for disposal were above
the market values, it was necessary to include impairments
amounting to EUR 106.5m.

The real estate included under the Land and buildings item
and property on land owned by third parties amount to
EUR 1.6m.

EURm Land and Plant and Fixtures, Advance pay- Total
buildings machinery plant and ments and
office  assets under
equipment  construction
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01.2002 2171 254 1249 50 3725
Additions 12 08 59 49 128
Disposals 2.1 31 247 03 30.1
Reclassifications - - - -0.1 =01
Balance 31.12.2002 2163 232 106.2 85 3551
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 6.9 18 108 - 196
Accumulated depreciation 119.2 182 815 - 2189
Book value 31.12.2002 97.0 50 246 95 136.1
Book value 01.01.2002 103.0 6.3 30.3 5.0 1446

Leased assets

The total amount of leased assets, which represents the
beneficial ownership of the Group according to IAS 17
(Accounting for Leases), is as follows:

EURm Leased aircraft Leased
and reserve buildings
engines
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01.2002 11224 10.1
Additions /Reclassifications 36.9 -
Disposals 1523 -
Balance 31.12.2002 1,0570 10.1
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year 603 02
Accumulated depreciation 2633 25
Book value 31.12.2002 7937 7.6
Book value 01.01.2002 830.0 7.8

Contractual terms for plant, machinery and office equip-
ment are between one and five years. The agreements con-
tain mostly fixed lease payments as well as purchase options
at the end of the lease term. An extension of the agreements
on the side of the lessee is possible, while termination of the
agreements is not. In addition to the finance lease agree-
ments, a considerable number of lease agreements has been
signed, which qualify as operating leases in terms of their
economic substance, so that the leased subject is accounted
for in the books of the lessor. This primarily concerns the
building lease agreements. The operating lease agreements
for six aircraft run for between several months and seven
years. As a rule, the agreements end automatically after the
expiry of the contractual term, although lease extension
options exist in a number of cases. Of the eight aircraft,
two are subleased by means of the operating lease. The
lease agreement for Hangar 11l at Schwechat Airport has a
maturity term of seven years.
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Aircraft being the beneficial and legal ownership of the
Group are leased by means of the operating lease. On the

between several months and five years, cash amounting
to EUR 62.4m was received throughout the entire lease

basis of these agreements, which have lease terms of  period.
Financial assets
EURm Investments in  Investments Loans to Other Other Total
subsidiaries associated securities loans
companies
Acquisition costs
Balance 01.01.2002 0.1 442 1.0 2109 1372 3934
Additions 0.1 6.7 - 48 30 146
Disposals - 38 - 479 62.1 1138
Reclassifications - - - - - -
Balance 31.12.2002 02 47.1 10 1678 78.1 2942
Depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year - 19 - 04 - 23
Accumulated depreciation - 14.1 - 23 0.1 165
Book value 31.12.2002 02 330 1.0 1654 78.1 2776
Book value 01.01.2002 01 310 10 2089 1372 3782

The following table compares the book and market values of
the securities recorded under Financial assets.

Trade receivables

Due within one year

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001 EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Book value 165.4 2089 Trade receivables 1592 2320
Market value 166.7 207.3
Unrealised profit/loss +1.3 -16
Average effective interest vield in % 550 6.33 As at 31 December 2002, valuation allowances amounted to

Other loans primarily represent deposit payments made for
aircraft financing,

Inventories

Inventories, which total EUR 479m, consist of technical
commodities required and purchased for use in servicing the
fleet, goods for inflight sale and in Duty Free shops and other

merchandise.

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Operational supplies and consumables 403 461
Goods for sale and other merchandise 76 9.2

47.9 55.3
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EUR 160m. No general provision was recorded on trade
receivables. Trade receivables refer primarily to agents and
credit card companies in Austria and abroad, other airlines
and airmail authorities. The reported book values of the
monetary assets described in these items correspond to their
market values.




Other current assets

Due within one year

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Other accounts receivable 434 46.0
Prepaid expenses, accrued income 257 300

69.1 76.0

Due after more than one year

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Other accounts receivable 756 346
Prepaid expenses, accrued income 324 336

108.0 68.2

As at 31 December 2002, valuation allowances amounting
to EUR 48m were made on Other current assets. No
general provision on other receivables was recorded. Other
non-current assets also include accrued interest income of
EUR 235m. The reported book values of the monetary
assets recorded in these items correspond to their market
values. The Prepaid expenses and accrued income item
mainly consists of rental payments made in advance.

Deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets reported in the balance sheet are
based on the following temporary differences between the
carrying amounts for IFRS financial reporting purposes

tax-related income. According to Austrian tax law, no time
restrictions exist with regard to the consumption of tax los-
ses carried forward. The value of the existing deferred tax
asset at Lauda Air has been entirely written off. No deferred
taxes were accounted for profits of ALE, which are not
intended for distribution.

Short-term investments

The following table shows the book and market values of the
securities on current assets as at the balance sheet date:

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Book value 846 2247
Market value 84.8 2249
Unrealised profit 0.2 0.2
Average effective interest rate yield in % 5.33 7.16

Securities totalling EUR 84.6m purchased for the purposes
of capital investment consist primarily of loans, other
obligations and investment certificates from issuers in
Austria and abroad.

Cash on hand and at bank

The following table shows the book and market values of the
securities on current assets as of the balance sheet date:

and the tax base. The deferred taxes were determined using EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001

the Austrian tax rate of 34%. Book value 1505 723
' Market value 1505 723

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001

Tax loss carry forward 1328 1303 The following is a breakdown of bank deposits by currency:

Assets (primarily aircraft) -2281 -2504

Leaseliabilities 2251 244 EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001

Provisions for pension obligations 1138 116.1

Provisions for severance payments 757 109 EUR 1250 54.5

Provisions for anniversary bonuses 133 12.3 USD 16.4 9.2

Provisions for additional depreciation -97 -69 CHF 0.3 05

Other provisions 176 14.1 JPY 03 0.3

Untaxed reserves -496 —49.1 Other currencies 85 7.8

Other liabilities 97 —22.3 150.5 72.3

Other temporary differences 134 =70

Tax base 320.0 202.4

Deferred tax assets 108.8 688

The deferred tax on loss carry forwards was carried as an
asset insofar as these can probably be charged with future

Shareholders” equity

The share capital of Austrian Airlines AG, totalling
FUR 247.2m, is broken down into 34 million individual
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share certificates. The shares of the company are listed on
the Prime Market of the Vienna Stock Exchange and are
part of the ATX. As resolved by the 42nd Ordinary Ge-
neral Meeting of 19 May 1998, the Board of Management
was empowered, on approval by the Supervisory Board, to
increase the company’s share capital by a nominal
EUR 94.4m until 19 May 2003 through the issue of new
shares (authorised capital). As the share capital was
increased by EUR 581m in 1999, a residual amount of
EUR 36.3m remains as authorised capital. The resolution
was adopted by the 43rd Ordinary General Meeting of
27 April 1999 to convert the share capital from
ATS 3,400,000,000 into EUR 247,180,000. In doing so, a
total of EUR 92,363.83 was withdrawn from retained
earnings for rounding differences and used for the capital
increase. In the Ordinary General Meeting of 10 May 2000,
authorisation was given to buy back up to 10 % of the
issued share capital, subject to a time restriction of
18 months. In the year under review, the authorisation was
used to buy back 5 % of the shareholders’ equity, and 1.7m
shares were bought back to put in place a "Share Purchase
Option Programme" for managers. The repurchase value
of EUR 14.8m has been balanced as part of the reserves.
Net profit for the year is recorded under retained earnings.
In accordance with IAS 27 (Consolidated Financial State-
ments and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries),
minority interests are recorded as a separate line item in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Reserves

The composition and development of the reserves are
disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Shareholders’
Equity. Only the balance sheet profit of the parent
company can be used for the payment of dividends. A
limitation on profit distribution exists in relation to the
capital reserves and other restricted reserves.

The increase in provisions for aircraft overhauls is attribut-
able to the expansion in flight hours on which these pro-
visions are based.

According to [AS 19 (Employee Benefits), the valuation of
provisions for employee benefits is determined under the
"Projected Unit Credit Method". According to this method,
the amount necessary for the accumulations of the full
accrual is charged to the period to which the benefit growth
is allocated. The provisions for social capital show the
following development:

EURm Pension Severance Anniversary
obligations payments  payments

Present value of obligations (DBO)

as at 31.12.2002 2979 820 14.2
Recoverable fair value of scheduled

assets on 31.12.2002 -1225 - -
Actuarial losses not recorded

as at 31.12.2002 -420 -6.0 -06
Provisions as at 31.12.2002 1334 76.0 136
Current length of service 91 48 05
Interest costs 154 41 0.7
Expected income from

scheduled assets -6.3 - -
Recorded actuarial loss 03 - -
Annual expenses 2002 185 89 12
Provisions as at 01.01.2002 133.2 746 136
Annual expenses 2002 183 89 1.2
Payments made -183 ~7.5 -1.2
Provisions as at 31.12.2002 1334 760 136
Expected income from

scheduled assets 6.3 - -
Actuarial loss from

scheduled assets 66 - -
Actual income from

scheduled assets in 2002 03 - -

Short-term provisions

EURm

31.12.2602 31.12.2001

Unearned transportation
revenues arising from flight

documents sold and not vet used 1062 384
Provisions Provisions for personnel costs 458 359
Provisions for services
not yet invoiced 84.5 634
Long-term provisions Provisions for sales commissions 393 242
EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001 Prov%s%ons for Valt-Jati.on risk§ ' 276 30.6
Provisions for obligations arising from
Provisions for severance payments 76.0 74.6 frequent flyer programmes 29 59
Provisions for pension obligations 1334 1332 Provisions for plant projects not yet
Provisions for anniversary bonuses 136 136 charged 37 2.3
Provisions for aircraft overhauls 1564 1213 Other provisions 243 359
Other provisions 11.3 109 334.3 236.6

390.7 353.6
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The rise in provisions for Unearned transportation revenues

arising from flight documents sold and not used is attributa-
ble to the increased flight programme compared to the end of
the previous year and a change in the purchasing pattern of
customers.

Interest-bearing liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

The item of EUR 240.0m as amounts owed to banks with
a term of over one year was based upon oral information
provided by the financing banks about authorised or
intended extensions of amounts principally due within
one year.

Other liabilities

Other non-current liabilities

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001 EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Bonds issued 418 425 Other non<urrent liabilities 56.6 828
Amounts owed to banks 9216 986.8
Lease liabilities 9980 1,181.7

1961.4 22110 Other non-current liabilities in the year under review in-

Current interest-bearing liabilities

clude EUR 43.1m of non-current accrued expenses and
deferred income.

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001 Other current liabilities

Bonds issued 228 ~  EURm 31122002 31.12.2001
Amounts owed to banks 209.7 3000

Lease liabilities 777 1942 Advances received from customers 23 23
310.2 494.2 Trade accounts payable 1352 147.3
Accounts payable to associated companies - 328
Liabilities relating to other taxes 19 09
Amounts owed to banks also include rediscounting fi- Liabilities relating to social security 6.0 22
. nancing of EUR 58.1m with Osterreichische Kontrollbank. Other liabilities 569 466
Accrued expenses and deferred income 9.0 140

The falls in Amounts owed to banks and Other liabilities are
fully attributable to the corresponding amortisations. New
credits were taken out for the B777 and B737 aircraft newly
incorporated into the fleet in the year under review. These
credits were reported in the accounts at EUR 149.2m as at
31 December 2002.

The following table contains the terms and conditions of
interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2002, as well as
their book and market values:

211.3 246.1

Other liabilities include various liabilities from interest
charges, passenger charges, etc.

EURm EUR USD CHF JPY Book value Market value
Upto 1 year of which fixed - - - - - -
of which variable 101.3 942 356 58.1 3102 3102

1 to 5 years of which fixed - - - - - -
of which variable 3872 2329 2644 1140 998.5 9985

Over 5 years of which fixed - - 418 504 922 784
of which variable 317.7 4524 704 30.2 870.7 870.7

806.2 7795 432.2 253.7 22716 2257.8
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Contingencies

Guarantees and contingencies amounting to EUR 406.0m
relate primarily to contingencies arising from sale-and-lease-
back agreements, set up for the scheduled repayment of lia-
bilities and offset with the appropriate deposits, as well as
guarantees referring to aircraft financing. Of the contingent
liabilities reported, EUR 0.2m relates to Group companies.
The economic performance of Lauda Air — besides the oper-
ating risks relating to existing overcapacities and open air-
craft orders — could be heavily influenced by significant for-
eign currency positions in USD and JPY. On the basis of the
profit and loss transfer agreement already concluded and
the Production Company Concept, the Group parent com-
pany bears this risk with immediate effect.

EURm 31.12.2602 31.12.2001
Guarantees from aircraft financing 399.2 3014
Other contingent liabilities 6.8 14.2

406.0 315.6

Other financial obligations

EURm 31.12.2002 31.12.2001
Order commitments for aircraft 3777 909.7
Order commitments for other

planned investments 209.0 1280
Other 363 584

823.2 1,096.1

The open order commitment relates to 18 aircraft; the Other
item includes longterm obligations in the catering field
among other things,

Hedge policy and financial derivatives

As a globally active company, the Austrian Airlines Con-
solidated Group is routinely exposed to fluctuations in
prices, interest rates and exchange rates. In recognition of
this fact, it is company policy to balance any such risks
internally as far as it is possible; to control net positions in
a way to produce the optimum effect on net income; and to
hedge open positions wherever it is deemed.

Price risk
The price risks associated with the fuel price trend — fuel

expenditure represents 9.2 % of total expenses — was
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partially hedged in 2002 by means of spread options
contracts. These place an upper limit upon fuel expen-
diture, while leaving scope to profit from falling fuel
prices. This increases planning security, although it cannot
protect the Group from persistent, long-term price in-
creases. In such cases, there remains no alternative to
coverage other than through appropriate increases in
flight revenues. In the past, sharp increases in the price of
oil were normally triggered by brief crises and tended to
be relatively short-term in nature. Because of this, the costs
of appropriate hedging measures usually outweighed the
additional negative effects that had been avoided. As a
result of the altered framework conditions, the hedging
facility mentioned is now of real use to Austrian Airlines
(to increase planning security), even though it does in-
volve certain hedging costs (e.g. option charges). Hedging
transactions are handled centrally for all Group com-
panies through the Group’s Purchasing Division.

Credit risk

In the majority of cases, the sale of passage and freight doc-
uments is handled via agencies within the sphere of influ-
ence of JATA. These agencies are overwhelmingly con-
nected with country-specific clearing systems for the set-
tlement of passage or freight sales. Individual agents are
checked by the particular clearing houses. The credit risk
from sales agents is relatively low due to their dispersion
worldwide. Where the agreements upon which a payment
is based do not explicitly state otherwise, claims and lia-
bilities arising between the airlines are usually settled on a
bilateral basis or via a Clearing House of the International
Air Transport Association (IATA). Settlement takes place
principally through the balancing of all receivables and lia-
bilities at regular monthly intervals, which contributes to
a significant reduction in the risk of non-payment. In indi-
vidual cases, a separate security may be required in the par-
ticular payment agreement for other transactions. For all
other payment relationships, depending upon the type
and level of the particular payment, securities may be
required or credit information/references obtained. His-
torical data from the business relationship up until that
point, in particular in relation to payment behaviour, may
be used in an effort to avoid non-payment. Recognisable
risks are accounted for by valuation adjustments on
receivables. The credit risk from investments and deriva-
tive financial instruments arises from the danger of non-
payment by a contract partner. Since the transactions are
concluded with contracting parties of the highest possible
credit rating the risk of non-payment is extremely low.
Loans to contracting parties of less certain credit rating are




only made if offset by assessable strategic advantages

corresponding to the non-payment risk, or if securities are
provided.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity in the Group is protected on the one hand by
appropriate liquidity planning and on the other through
the financing structure, high financial stocks and
sufficient short-term credit facilities. Around 85 % of the
interest-bearing liabilities have a due date of more than
one year. As at 31 December 2002, liquid funds in a
broader sense totalled approximately EUR 458.8m, of
which EUR 190.2m was freely available. As a result of
suitable investment strategies, no costs are allocatable
to the holding of liquidity. Furthermore, open credit
facilities of around EUR 179.6m were available as at
31 December 2002. In the wake of the events of 11 Sep-
tember and the slower demand in world aviation, it has
not been not possible to realise the planned aircraft sales
to the full extent. By putting back planned aircraft
purchases in 2002 and the following years, the Group
achieved a reduction in its future financing requirement
for advance payments and delivery payments. Further-
more, the improvement in the result and optimisations
in the area of working capital led to a situation whereby
interest-bearing liabilities could be reduced by EUR 433.6m.
As aresult, the level of debt was reduced to 290.4%.

Interest rate risk

In order to avoid valuation risks arising from liabilities,
financing is primarily carried out using variable interest
rates, In the strongly market-driven air travel business, this
also provides an additional protection aspect, since interest
rates are usually also lower at times of weaker competition.
Interest-rate swaps are only agreed with partners of first-
class creditworthiness.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risks are valued from both the cash flow
at-risk’ and ‘value at-risk’ perspectives, and are hedged
and controlled with the objective of planning security
and result optimisation. From a cash flow perspective,
the USD position is relatively neutral when holdings of
USD-dependent currencies in the Group are taken into
account. Surpluses exist in JPY due to ticket sales in the
Japanese market. On the assets side, the aircraft fleet
represents a book value of approximately EUR 2.5bn
denominated in USD. According to IFRS, however,
aircraft are not subject to ‘mark to market’ valuation and
therefore cannot be used to offset liabilities in USD. The

JPY liabilities lead to JPY cash flows on the one hand and
high positive interest-rate variances in relation to the
EUR on the other. Positive interest-rate variances in rela-
tion to financing surpluses in CHF also serve to balance
out possible risk in the EUR. Where necessary, derivative
instruments will continue to be used with first-class
partners for the settlement of balances or the closing of
open positions. As at 31 December 2002, hedging trans-
actions existed using financial derivatives for the coverage of
exchange rate, interest rate and fuel price fluctuations. The
market values of financial derivatives as reported in the
following tables correspond to the particular price at
which an independent third party would assume the
rights and /or obligations from this financial instrument
from the Austrian Airlines Group. The market values
were determined on the basis of the market information
available at the financial year-end. Negative signs mean a
possible obligation in a sale or a realisation of the item at
the financial year-end. The following currency hedging,
reported according to business types, exists in relation to
banks and other financial institutions.

Currency hedging

EURm Terms to  List price at Market  Profit (+)/
31.12.2002 value loss (-)
31.12.2002
CHF 165.7m max. I
forward half-year
exchange sale 2003 114.1 1135 -06
JPY 3.0bn max. 1*
forward half-year
exchange sale 2003 244 256 +1.2
+0.6

As at 31 December 2002, hedging deals comprising
purchase options and fixed price transactions existed for
the financial year 2003 and related to gas oil and jet fuel.

The market value is determined on the basis of the
current financial market conditions as at 31 December of
the financial year. The basis for the calculation is the
average value of the particular futures and the associated
volatilities on a monthly basis, as reported by a number of
international banks.
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Fuel price hedging

EURm Volume Termsto  Book value Market Profit (+)/
value lass (=)
Swaps
Jet fuel, gas oil 135,000 ¢ 31.12.2003 - - 06 +0.6
Crude oil 860,000 bbl 30.09.2004 - - -
Option transactions
Jet fuel, gas oil 30,000 t 28022003 - 02 +0.2
Crude ail 560,000 bbl 31.12.20603 - 02" +0.2
Total +1.0

~ Cash Flow Statement

The Cash Flow Statement of the Austrian Airlines Group is
presented according to the indirect method. Financial
resources include cash, cheques, deposits with banks and
securities held as current assets with a maturity of less than
three months. The effects from a change in the scope of
consolidation are eliminated and are presented as a separate
item. Financial income is presented as part of the invest-
ment activity. Dividend payments and financial costs are
charged to financing activity.

Segment reporting

Inter-Group services are charged on the basis of allocated
costs without a mark-up. In light of the restructuring of the
Group, new delimitations and allocations in segment calcu-

lation may become necessary in future.

The primary reporting format by strategic business seg-

The primary reporting format according to strategic busi-
ness areas for the financial year 2001 was as follows:

EURm Scheduled Charter Comple- Total
mentary
services
Revenue 1,7015 2086 1853 20956
Other operating
income 63.0 80 52 76.2
Operating revenue 1,764.5 2166 1907 21718
Operating expenses 1,850.0 2255 185.2 2,260.7
EBITDAR 181.9 284 93 2196
Result from
operating
activities (EBIT) -85.5 -89 55 -889
Assets 33759 4139 368.0 41578
Liabilities 29443 361.0 3209 36262

The secondary reporting format by geographical segment is
as follows:

PR , EURm 2002 2002 2001 2001
ments for the financial year 2002 is as follows: Scheduled  Charter Scheduled  Charter
Austria 50.2 0.1 65.2 0.4
EURm Scheduled ~ Charter Complemen- Total Switzerland 736 02 280 01
tary services Germany 360.0 1.3 347.0 1.6
Scandinavia 32.7 0.4 738 1.2
Revenue 18338 2214 1492 22044 Other
Other operating Western Europe 24622 3738 2332 265
income 161.0 195 13.1 193.6 Southern and
Operating revenue 1,994.8 2409 1623 23980 South-Fastern
Operating expenses 1,962.3 2375 156.8 2,356.6 Europe 1762 73] 1605 912
EBITDAR 3725 824 83 4632 Central Burope 21238 55 1768 44
Result from Middle East 860 554 870 441
operating _ ) Africa 0.4 30 60 24
activities (EBIT) 325 34 5.5 414 Asia /Oceania 3999 158 3406 178
Assets 31836 3846 2592 _ 38294 North America 1458 288 1834 189
Liabilities 27193 3283 2212 32688
Total 1,833.8 2214 1,7015 2086

In the scheduled segment, EUR 85.5m was allocated to Impair-
ments, while the figure for the charter segment was EUR 21.0m.
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Related party transactions

Following the issue of its new Austrian Airlines-VISA-
Miles & More card, "AirPlus" Air Travel Card Vertriebsge-
sellschaft m.b.H. was able to increase its revenue from card
payments by 62 % and once again report a positive result,
Airest Restaurant- und Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft mbH
compensated for losses in its core business of airline
catering with growth in its airport restaurants, increased
income in the Airport-Shops, the expansion of business in
business catering and the takeover from Austrian Airlines
of the Dry Store, which oversees the lcading of news-
papers, drinks and merchandise for inflight sales. The
reduction of 4.4 % in meals sold to 7.1m was countered by
a 7 % increase in guests in the restaurants to 4m. Despite
a reduction in bookings of 13 %, GULET TOURQOPA
Touristik GmbH, the main customer in the charter
business of Lauda Air, was able to achieve an improvement
in its result by optimising its purchasing of services.

Long-term contractual relationships

Star Alliance

The principles of co-operation in the Star Alliance with
regard to objectives, brand usage and mutual projects are
documented in a "memorandum of intent”. Details of the co-
operation are regulated by bilateral framework agreements
with the individual members of the Star Alliance. These
agreements have terms of up to ten years and regulate the
particularly relevant co-operation projects, ie. on the net-
work, frequent flyer programme, etc. A joint venture is also
in place with Lufthansa covering traffic between Austria
and Germany.

DO&CO

An agreement as concluded by Lauda Air with DO&CO
Partyservice und Catering AG, to exclusively supply
aircraft with inflight food and other supplementary
services, provides for first right of termination for Lauda
Air effective as of 31 December 2009. According to the con-
tract, the minimum annual sales volume must be 865,000
meals, producing minimum revenue of EUR 7.3 million. A
penalty of EUR 1.5 million is to be paid should these figures
not be reached. The current purchase volume amounts to
approximately EUR 17.4 million per year.

Lauda Italy
Essential commercial relationships in the other revenue
sector of Lauda Air relate to the lease of three aircraft to

Lauda Air Italy and associated maintenance. Revenue of
EUR 27.2m was generated in 2002.

Equity reconciliation

Consolidated financial statements in compliance with
IFRS differ fundamentally regarding its objectives from
those prepared according to the Austrian Commercial
Code. In particular they require significantly improved
transparency and lead to more meaningful financial infor-
mation. Tax based figures are not permitted according
to IFRS. The accurate and appropriate information of
investors is crucial under IFRS. Due to the different objec-
tives of accounting, these sometimes require different
accounting principles as well as partially extended report-
ing requirements in the Notes. The consolidated financial
statements, prepared under IFRS in 2000 for the first time,
include the Balance Sheet, the Income Statement, State-
ment of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, Cash Flow State-
ment and Notes. The comparative figures for the previous
year have also been restated under IFRS. As a result, the
following classification, accounting and valuation methods
differ from the Austrian Accounting Principles:

Tangible and intangible assets

Under Austrian Commercial Law, depreciation and
amortisation are governed by the prudence concept. IFRS
requires an ongoing examination of the useful lives, which
usually results in longer depreciation and amortisation
periods. To determine a possible depreciation requirement,
IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) requires an "impairment
test”. The depreciation periods have been adjusted to the
generally accepted international (longer) useful lives.

Inventories
Inventories are only written down to the lower market price
if the book values cannot be covered by the sale prices.

Financial assets

Current financial assets are valued at market price. Unlike
Austrian Commercial Law a write up is not limited with
original cost.

Foreign currency liabilities

Foreign currency liabilities are valued at the closing rate, even
if this is below the level of the rate as of the date of origination.
Thus every currency fluctuation immediately affects net
income and avoids the build-up of hidden reserves, although
every change in the exchange rate is shown in the annual result.
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Provisions for employee benefits

Provisions for employee benefits {provisions for pensions
and similar retirement obligations, severance payment
provisions, anniversary bonus provisions) are based upon
the Projected Unit Credit Method. The discount rate is
determined using the current long-term interest rate on
the capital market. Furthermore future wage increases are
also considered up tc the expected pension age. In this
way, the provision increases faster in the accumulation
phase than under the method required by Austrian com-
mercial law.

Deferred taxes

According to TAS, deferred taxes are calculated and report-
ed under the balance sheet-oriented temporary concept.
According to this, the valuations of the individual assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet are compared with the
appropriate tax basis. Variances in these amounts lead to
temporary differences in value for which deferred tax assets
or deferred tax liabilities are to be recognised regardless
when such differences cease to exist. According to IFRS,
these should be accounted for in the balance sheet, whereas
under the Austrian Commercial Code an option to choose
exists in the individual account for the valuation of
deferred tax assets. According to the Austrian Commercial
Code, deferred taxes are only admissible as a consequence
of temporary differences between the result according
to statutory accounts and the profit to be determined
according to tax regulations, insofar as there has been
actual tax expenditure before tax-related loss carry forward.
According to the Austrian Commercial Code, it is not
admissible to recognise deferred tax assets resulting from
tax loss carry forwards.

Other provisions

According to IFRS, the valuation of provisions is based
upon different criteria in relation to the payment obliga-
tion and probability of occurrence on which they are
based. The valuation is to be determined according to the
most likely probability of occurrence and not — as under
Austrian commercial law — according to the principle of
commercial prudence. Expenditure provisions are possible
under Austrian Commercial Code, while they are not

allowed according to IFRS.

Extended duty of disclosure

IFRS requires, in order to give a true and fair view of the
financial statements, additional information to Balance
Sheet, Income Statement, Cash Flow Statement and the
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity in the
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Notes. Further disclosure requirements exist especially in
respect to commercial segments, associated companies and
derivative financial instruments, which are not provided
for under Austrian commercial law.

Stock Option Plan
The key points of the Stock Option Plan are as follows:

o Those entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan are
the members of the Board of Management of Austrian
Airlines, its Divisional Managers, Departmental Managers
reporting directly to a member of the Board of Manage-
ment and the Managing Directors or Chief Executive
Officers of Lauda Air, Tyrolean and Rheintalflug.

0 The prerequisite for participation is an own investment by
the above-mentioned option holders, that is the purchase
of shares in the company.

o The options to be granted are calculated as follows: the
own investment amount is divided by the average closing
price of the Austrian Airlines share in official trading on
the Vienna Stock Exchange in the month of October 2001
on a euro basis. For each share determined in this way, the
option holders receive 12 options. The option exercise
price is the average price of the Austrian Airlines share in
the month of October 2001.

O The prerequisites for the exercise of the options are an
increase of 50 % in the share price at the time of exercise
compared to the average closing price of the Austrian
Airlines share in official trading on the Vienna Stock
Exchange in the month of October 2001 (option exercise
price), and the achievement of positive "Cash Value
Added" as defined as a ratio by the OIAG.

0 The options can be exercised after a qualifying period of
2 years, and must be exercised within 4 years.

The number of options granted is divided up as follows:

Number of options granted

Board of Management

Vagn Soerensen 170,940
Walter Bock 119,664
Josef Burger 119,664
Thomas Kleibl 119,664
Total Board of Management 529,932
Total management (37 people) 969,138
Total options granted 1,499,070




Supervisory Board and Board
of Management

Members of the Board of Management and the Super-
visory Board are listed on pages 7 ff. of this report. Total
remuneration for the current members of the Board of
Management amounted to EUR 1,270,661 for the current
year, of which 139 % were attributable to variable compo-
nents; EUR 1,399,635 was paid out, primarily in pension
obligations, to former members of the Board of Manage-
ment and their surviving dependants. Members of the
Supervisory Board received attendance fees and com-
pensation for expenses totalling EUR 144,063.

Earnings per share,
Proposed Allocation of Profit

Earnings per share are determined as the quotient from the
net profit for the period and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

2002 2001

Net profit/loss for the year in EURm 42.8 -166.0
Weighted average number of ordinary

shares outstanding during the period 33,150,000 34,000,000

Earnings per share in EUR 1.29 -4.88

Diluted number of shares 34,000,000 na,

Diluted earnings per share in EUR 1.26 na.

Vienna, 19 March 2003

There were no shares or other instruments outstanding at
31 December 2002 and 31 December 2001 which could
have a potential dilutive effect on the earnings per share.
According to the provisions of the Austrian Stock Corpora-
tion Act, the financial statements of Austrian Airlines
Osterreichische Luftverkehrs-AG to 31 December 2002, set
up in compliance with Austrian Accounting Principles,
form the basis for the dividend payment. These financial
statements show a balanced balance sheet result. A divi-
dend payment is therefore not possible.

Subsequent events after the
balance sheet date

In January 2003, two Dash 8-400Q were delivered to
Tyrolean Airways.

At the beginning of March 2003, the Works Council for
Flight Employees brought a legal action at the Industrial
Tribunal in Vienna for restraint of actions counter to the
C.33 Supplementary Agreement (Employment Agree-
ment).

Board of Management

Vagn Soerensen

[y

Walter Bock

Josef Burger

Thomas Kleibl
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- Auditor’s Report

"We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Austrian Airlines Osterreichische Luft-
verkehrs AG (Austrian Airlines Group) as at 31 December
2002 and 31 December 2001 comprised of the Consolidat-
ed Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2002 and 31 December
2001, the Income Statement, Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity, Cash Flow Statement and Notes for
the years then ended.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Board of Management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISA) of the International Federa-
tion of Accountants (IFAC). Those Standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatements. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also in-
cludes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view in all material respects of the financial position of
Austrian Airlines Group as of 31 December 2002 and
31 December 2001, and of the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS,
formerly International Accounting Standards or [AS).

Under Austrian Law (Sect. 245a Austrian Commercial
Code), an audit of the Group Management Report has to
be conducted and it has to be certified whether the legal
requirements for the exemption from the preparation of
consolidated accounts according to Austrian law are met.

We confirm that the Group Management Report for Aus-
trian Airlines Group is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements and we further certify that the legal
requirements for the exemption from the preparation of
consolidated accounts according to Austrian Law are met."

Vienna, 19 March 2003

Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftspriifungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Erich Kandler m.p.
Certified Public Accountant
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The financial year 2002 was a difficult one for the aviation
industry, and subsequently for Austrian Airlines AG also.
Levels of demand have remained low following the events of
11 September 2001, while, in an industry that is particularly
exposed to the broader business cycle, global stagnation has
had a powerful negative impact. In addition to these factors,
the number of low cost carriers entering the market on the
strength of aggressive pricing policies has increased at an
ever-growing rate. These phenomena have led to a massive
intensification of competition across the aviation industry.

Despite such challenging conditions, Austrian Airlines AG
has succeeded not merely in maintaining its position but in
building the foundations for a substantial turnaround after
the negative result of 2001, This remarkable achievement was
entirely counter to the wider trend in the industry.

There can be no doubt that even tougher competitive condi-
tions are to come. Austrian Airlines and the other carriers in
the Group will continue to react to these with product and
price innovations. In 2003, strict cost controls, flexibility and
above-average performance will serve to ensure that, despite
the undeniably demanding business environment, Austrian
Airlines AG fulfils its responsibility for maintaining Austrian
air traffic infrastructure.

In the past financial year, the Supervisory Board has per-
formed its responsibilities with commitment and compe-
tence, and supported the Board of Management in the fulfil-
ment of its undeniably difficult tasks. [n 2002, the Superviso-
ry Board held a total of six plenary meetings at which the

company’s position, the development of business and plan-
ning issues were dealt with, the relevant reports of the Board
of Management received, and the necessary resolutions
passed. In this manner, the management of the company was
kept under constant review.

The financial statements of the Austrian Airlines AG and the
consolidated financial statements which are both the respon-
sibility of the Management Board, both as of 31 December
2002, have been audited in conjunction with the Board's
Management Report by the appointed auditors, 'Deloitte &
Touche GmbH, Wirtschaftspriifungs- und Steuerberatungs-
gesellschaft”, who have issued an unqualified audit opinion.
The Supervisory Board has approved and thus adopted the
financial statements in accordance with § 125, par 2 of the
Austrian Companies Act.

The Supervisory Board has also approved the consolidated
accounts and Group Management Report drawn up in accor-
dance with § 246 in conjunction with § 245a of the Com-
mercial Code, whereby said documents are deemed to be
officially adopted.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its gratitude to
all employees of the Group in acknowledgement of the work
done in the past financial year. It would also like to thank all
our customers, suppliers and above all shareholders for their
loyalty and patience over the year.

Vienna, April 2003

Rainer Wieltsch m.p.

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Equity Interests

At the balance sheet date, Austrian Airlines Osterreichische Luftverkehrs AG held a minimum equity interest of 20 % in the
following companies, either directly or through AUA Beteiligungen Gesellschaft m b.H.

Company name Austrian Airlines Shareholders’ Net profit/ Method of
and headquarters holding in % equity plus loss for the year inclusion in
untaxed reserves in EUR 000 consolidated

in EUR 000 accounts

AUA Beteiligungen Gesellschaft mb.H,

Vienna 100 21,013 7,249 KV
Austrian Airlines

Lease and Finance Company Limited,

St. Peter Port 100 136,837 29,527 KV
Tyrolean Airways,

Tiroler Luftfahrt GmbH,

Innsbruck 100 102,683 348 KV
Austrian Airtransport,

Osterreichische

Flugbetriebsgesellschaft m.bH,

Vienna 1007 144 4 KV
AUA Versicherungs-Service

Gesellschaft mbH,

Vienna 1007 40 2,341 KV
Lauda Air Luftfahrt GmbH,

Vienna-Schwechat 100 36,658 7,248 KV
UIA Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H,

Vienna 77.78 7897 0 KV
ACS Aircontainer Services

Gesellschaft mbH,

Fischamend 76 362 159 KV
TRAVIAUSTRIA

Datenservice fiir Reise und

Touristik Gesellschaft m.b.H,

Vienna 65° 3,000 1,149 KV
AVICON Aviation Consult

Gesellschaft mbH,

Vienna 60° 127 10 KV
SCA Schedule Coordination

Austria GmbH, Schwechat 54 70 -3 KO
AVS Privatkunden

Versicherungsservice GmbH,

Schwechat 51° 1,374 -92 KV
Airest Restaurant- und Hotelbetriebs-

gesellschaft mbH,

Schwechat 35° 7711 2,576 KE
"AirPlus" Air Travel Card

Vertriebsgesellschaft mb.H,

Vienna 33.33? 8,264 528 KE
GTT Holding AG,
Vienna 25° 12,856 3,995 KE
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Company name Austrian Airlines Shareholders’ Net profit/ Method of

and headquarters holding in % equity plus loss for the year inclusion in
untaxed reserves in EUR 000 consolidated
in EUR 000 accounts

GULET TOURQPA Touristik GmbH,

Vienna 100* 4726 4451
TUIL-Austria Reiseveranstaltungs-GmbH,

Vienna 25° 11 457 KE
TVW Travel Value Wien Betriebs GmbH,
Schwechat 100 34 -1 KO
TVW Travel Value Wien

Betriebs GmbH & Co KG,

Schwechat 100 34 -1 KO
TRAVIDATA {(UK) Limited,

London 1007 3f § KD
TRAVIDATA, Inc,

New York 100° 299° 6 KO
Link & Learn Aviation Training GmbH,

Zirl 3333 29 -7 KO

, Austrian Holidays Ltd,

London 50° 56 ~44 KO
Osterreichische Luftfahrtschule

AVIATION TRAINING Center

Austria GmbH,

Feldkirchen bei Graz 267 126 ~-35 KO

&

Result transferred to Austrian Airlines on basis of profit and loss transfer agreement with Austrian Airlines.
Holding held by AUA Beteiligungen GmbH.

Holding held by AUA Versicherungs-Service GmbH.

Holding held by GTT Holding AG.

Book value as at 31.12.2002 at AUA Beteiligungen GmbH.

Net profit for the year not yet established; asset-management activity only.

DUl B W N —

KV Included in full in the consolidated accounts.
KE  Included "at equity" in the consolidated accounts.
KO Not consolidated due to minor significance.
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Glossary

AEA

Association of European Airlines

Austrian Airlines Group

Austrian Airlines, Lauda Air, Tyrolean Airways and other Group
companies (scope of consolidation for the IFRS Group financial
statements); in marketing terms, umbrella brand for Austrian
Airlines, Lauda Air and Tyrolean Airways

Available seat kilometers (ASK)

Total of seats available times the distance travelled

Available ton kilometers (ATK)

Weight capacity available in tons times distance travelled

Blocked space agreement

Agreement regarding the purchase of a fixed block of seats on a
flight from another carrier; these seats are then marketed and
sold by the purchaser

Block hours

Time from departure of aircraft from loading position until its
return to unloading position after landing

Cash-like items

Cash in hand, checks, bank balances and securities

Cash Value Added
(CVA)

(ROTGA minus WACC) x Total Gross Assets (= assets at

acquisition cost minus non-interest-bearing debt)

Code sharing agreement

Agreement under which at least one of the Airline Designator
Codes on aflight is different from the one used by the operating
carrier

EBIT Result from operating activities

EBITDAR EBIT before depreciation and rentals

EBIT margin Result from operating activities in relation to revenues
Hub Airport functioning as a central transfer point of an airline
IATA International Air Transport Association

Net gearing

Long term debt excl. provisions and tax accruals/deferrals
minus cash-like items, in relation to shareholders’ equity

Network

Route network of an airline
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Operating revenue

Total turnover plus changes in inventories, services rendered
for own account and carried as fixed assets and other operating
revenues

Overall load factor

Utilisation of available weight capacity in percent (RTK x 100 /
ATK)

Passengers carried

Number of revenue passengers carried on individual flights.
Flights with one flight number are counted as one flight only,
regardless of the number of stopovers

Passenger load factor

Available seats in relation to the number of revenue passengers
in percent (RPK x 100/ASK)

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)

NOPAT (=EBIT minus taxes) in relation to Capital Employed
(=shareholders’ equity plus interest-bearing debt minus cash-
like items)

Return on Equity (ROE)

Profit before tax in relation to average shareholders’ equity

Return on Total Gross Assets
(ROTGA)

EBITDAR in relation to Total Gross Assets (=assets at acquisi-
tion cost minus non-interest-bearing debt)

Revenue passenger kilometers

(RPK)

Number of seats sold (passengers carried) times the distance tra-
velled

Revenue ton kilometers

Weight capacity sold in tons times the distance travelled

(RTK)

Sector flight Flight from take-off to the next landing (e.g. individual section of
a long haul flight)

Unit costs Adjusted overall operating expenses in relation to ASK

WACC Weighted average cost of capital

Yield Adjusted passenger flight revenue from scheduled services in

relation to scheduled RPK
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